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In the case of Sadykov v. Russia, 

The European Court of Human Rights (First Section), sitting as a 

Chamber composed of: 

 Christos Rozakis, President, 

 Nina Vajić, 

 Anatoly Kovler, 

 Elisabeth Steiner, 

 Khanlar Hajiyev, 

 Giorgio Malinverni, 

 George Nicolaou, judges, 

and Søren Nielsen, Section Registrar, 

Having deliberated in private on 16 September 2010, 

Delivers the following judgment, which was adopted on that date: 

PROCEDURE 

1.  The case originated in an application (no. 41840/02) against the 

Russian Federation lodged with the Court under Article 34 of the 

Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms 

(“the Convention”) by a Russian national, Mr Alaudin Magomedovich 

Sadykov (“the applicant”), on 15 February 2001. 

2.  The applicant, who had been granted legal aid, was represented by 

lawyers of the Stichting Russian Justice Initiative, an NGO based in the 

Netherlands with a representative office in Russia. The Russian Government 

(“the Government”) were initially represented by Mr P. Laptev, former 

Representative of the Russian Federation at the European Court of Human 

Rights, and subsequently by their Representative, Mr G. Matyushkin. 

3.  The applicant complained, in particular, that he had been severely ill-

treated while in detention and that no adequate investigation had been 

carried out into the matter. He further complained about damage caused to 

his property and a lack of effective remedies in connection with those 

violations of his rights. The applicant relied on Articles 3 and 13 of the 

Convention and Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the Convention. 

4.  On 29 August 2004 the President of the First Section decided to grant 

priority to the application under Rule 41 of the Rules of Court. 

5.  By a decision of 22 January 2009, the Court declared the application 

partly admissible. 

6.  The applicant and the Government each filed further written 

observations (Rule 59 § 1). 
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THE FACTS 

I.  THE CIRCUMSTANCES OF THE CASE 

7.  The applicant was born in 1950 and lives in Grozny. 

A.  The facts 

8.  According to the applicant, he experiences difficulties in 

reconstructing the events during and following his detention coherently and 

chronologically. On account of his ill-treatment in custody, the applicant 

suffers from memory lapses. He also finds it psychologically difficult to 

recall the details of the abusive treatment he was subjected to in detention. 

9.  The applicant owned real estate consisting of a house and outhouses 

at 94 Flotskaya Street, the Oktyabrskiy District of Grozny. At the material 

time he lived there alone, since his relatives had left the Chechen Republic 

after the renewal of hostilities in October 1999. The applicant remained in 

Grozny to look after the house and other possessions. The latter comprised 

personal belongings of the applicant and his relatives, furniture, an audio 

system, a satellite dish, two Subaru vehicles and an Oldsmobile car. 

Between late 1999 and early 2000 the applicant lived in the house only 

occasionally because of frequent attacks. From late January 2000 onwards 

he lived there permanently. 

10.  At the material time the applicant, a school teacher by profession, 

was working in a “burial group” (группа захоронения) for the Ministry of 

Civil Defence and Emergency Situations of the Chechen Republic 

(Министерство Чеченской Республики по делам гражданской обороны 

и чрезвычайным ситуация). He was also helping the residents of the 

Oktyabrskiy District of Grozny to obtain drinking water and food. 

1.  Events between 5 March and 24 May 2000 

(a)  The applicant's account 

(i)  The applicant's arrest 

11.  On 5 March 2000, at around 10 a.m., the applicant was distributing 

drinking water among the residents of the Oktyabrskiy District when a 

group of federal servicemen in two UAZ vehicles arrived and enquired as to 

how they could get to a certain street. The applicant and some other 

residents explained to them how to find that street, but the commander of 

the group asked the applicant to come with them and show them the way. 

The applicant agreed. The applicant submitted eyewitness statements by two 
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residents of the Oktyabrskiy District confirming the above-mentioned 

episode. 

12.  When the servicemen arrived at the street they were looking for, the 

applicant asked them to let him out. Instead, the military hit the applicant in 

the kidneys and put a bag over his head. They ordered him to be silent and 

delivered him to the Temporary Office of the Interior of the Oktyabrskiy 

District of Grozny (“the Oktyabrskiy VOVD”, временный отдел 

внутренних дел Октябрьского района г. Грозного). According to the 

applicant, the officers who apprehended him could not know his identity 

because they did not check his identity papers. 

(ii)  The applicant's detention on 5 March 2000 

13.  At the Oktyabrskiy VOVD the officers intimidated and ill-treated the 

applicant for several hours. In particular, they severely beat him, cut his hair 

and forced him to chew and swallow it, pressed a red-hot nail into his 

hands, forehead, nostrils and tongue and carved a derogatory word 

“Chichik” on his forehead with a nail or knife. 

14.  The officers also questioned the applicant, but made no written 

record of the interrogation. They asked the applicant where he had fought as 

a rebel fighter and why there was a list of names in his pocket. The 

applicant replied that he was a teacher, had never fought and that the list 

included the residents of the Oktyabrskiy District of Grozny to whom he 

distributed water. It appears that the officers did not believe him. They told 

him that he would not leave the premises of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD alive. 

15.  The officers then took the applicant down to a basement, stood him 

against the wall and started shooting around him. They told him that he 

should “wait a little longer to die” and that they had not “[had] enough of 

mocking him yet” and took a break. 

16.  Some time later they returned to the basement with several other 

officers and started “playing football” with the applicant. They spent about 

two hours knocking him off his feet, kicking him and throwing him onto the 

concrete floor. From time to time the applicant lost consciousness, but the 

officers brought him round. According to the applicant, he lost most of his 

teeth and his ribs, jaw, arm and leg were broken as a result of this treatment. 

(iii)  Search of the applicant's house on 5 March 2000 

17.  At around 5 p.m. one of the officers suggested that they go to the 

applicant's place of residence and “seize his firearms” whereupon a group of 

about eleven officers in two UAZ vehicles went there. The applicant was 

put into the boot of one of the cars. 

18.  When they arrived the police ordered the applicant to unlock all the 

doors in the house and started searching. The search lasted for a few hours. 

The officers entered all the rooms, the basement and the garage and climbed 

up onto the roof. The applicant maintained that he was unable to keep an 



4 SADYKOV v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT 

eye on all the officers at the same time. At some point during the search one 

of the officers called the applicant into the corridor, showed him an object, 

which resembled a piece of soap and later turned out to be a TNT block, and 

asked what it was. The officer claimed that he had found the object on a 

shelf. The applicant replied that he was unable to identify the object, as it 

was the first time he had seen it. 

19.  After the search the applicant was put into the boot again and 

escorted to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. There he was chained to a heater. 

(iv)  The applicant's detention between 6 and 10 March 2000 

20.  The applicant spent the next two days chained to the heater pending 

the construction of a new cell. 

21.  On one of those days the investigator, Mr P., interviewed the 

applicant. He enquired as to where the applicant had obtained the TNT 

block. The applicant denied that he had ever possessed explosives and 

insisted that the TNT block had been planted in his house during the search 

on 5 March 2000. The investigator then called two masked men, who beat 

the applicant until he lost consciousness. Later that day the two men 

returned and beat him again. The applicant said that during the next two 

days he coughed up blood and was unable to get up. 

22.  On around 7 March 2000 the officers twice put the applicant into the 

boot of a police car and drove him around for some time. 

23.  On 7 March 2000 the applicant was transferred to a newly 

constructed cell. Some time later another detainee, Mr K., was placed in the 

applicant's cell and two detainees in the adjacent one. 

24.  On 10 March 2000 an investigator informed the applicant that an 

expert study of the object found in his house had confirmed that it contained 

explosives. The investigator did not show the expert examination report to 

the applicant. 

(v)  Incident of 11 March 2000 

25.  On 11 March 2000, in the evening, two servicemen approached the 

applicant's cell and ordered a guard to open it. The guard, who appeared to 

be afraid of the men, complied with the order. According to the applicant, 

the men were drunk and one of them was wearing a mask. They started 

beating the applicant. After a while one of the men put his foot on the 

applicant, who was lying on the floor, took a knife and cut off his left ear. 

He also declared that he would cut off the applicant's head and made a 

scratch on the applicant's throat. In the applicant's submission, the man had 

a horseshoe-shaped moustache. Then another man entered the cell and took 

pictures of the bleeding applicant and his cut ear. According to the 

applicant, the man who took pictures was of Uzbek origin, his first name 

was Andrey and he served as a guard at the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 
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26.  The applicant submitted statements by his cellmate who had 

witnessed the applicant's ill-treatment. The applicant further referred to a 

statement of the then Mayor of Grozny, Bislan Gantamirov, who claimed in 

an interview with a regional weekly newspaper Groznenskiy Rabochiy 

(17-24 May 2000) that he had “a witness who had seen the deputy head of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD cut off the ear of one of the Chechen detainees”. 

27.  Then the officers left and entered the adjacent cell in which two 

other detainees were being held. According to the applicant, he heard 

screams and moans which became fainter and then died out. The applicant 

never saw those detainees again. 

(vi)  The applicant's detention between 12 and 18 March 2000 

28.  Early on 12 March 2000, when the applicant and his cellmate were 

asleep, the guards forced them to get up, put bags over their heads and 

escorted them to a small room. Several hours later the applicant and his 

cellmate were returned to their cell which had been thoroughly cleaned. The 

applicant saw the other cell because its doors were wide open. It was also 

clean and there were no detainees there. In the applicant's opinion, the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD authorities were hiding him and other detainees from a 

commission that was visiting police stations to inspect the treatment of 

detainees. 

29.  On around 13 March 2000 an official from the Grozny prosecutor's 

office (прокуратура г. Грозного), Mr L., visited the applicant and warned 

him not to disclose the fact that he had lost his ear in detention. Instead, the 

applicant was told to state that his ear had been cut off by rebel fighters. 

30.  On around 16 March 2000 a medical officer, whose first name was 

Gennadiy, visited the applicant. He put some ointment on the applicant's ear 

wound, but did not bandage it. Nether did he examine the applicant or treat 

his other injuries. According to the applicant, he was attended by medical 

officers on several occasions while in detention, but never underwent a 

medical examination or received proper treatment for his ear. 

(vii)  The applicant's detention between 19 March and 24 May 2000 

31.  On around 19 March 2000 the applicant was transferred to the 

basement of another building of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, where he was kept 

until his release on 24 May 2000. 

32.  The basement was divided into two rooms. One of them, measuring 

approximately 48 square metres (8 m x 6 m), was used as a torture chamber 

and contained various instruments, including an axe, a hammer, a 

sledgehammer, a shovel and scissors. According to the applicant, he was 

ordered to clean the room once and noticed bloodstains even on the ceiling 

which was 3m high. 

33.  The other room, measuring approximately 9 square metres (3 m x 

3 m), was a cell. During the applicant's detention twelve to fifteen detainees 
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were kept there. The applicant stated that on numerous occasions the 

detainees were taken to the adjacent room and tortured. He could hear them 

screaming. Sometimes the door between the two rooms was left open and 

the applicant could see his cellmates being severely ill-treated. They 

returned to the cell severely beaten, two of them had their fingers missing 

and another detainee was brought back unconscious. 

34.  On several occasions the investigator interrogated the applicant 

about the object allegedly found in his house on 5 March 2000. The 

applicant was forced to sign a confession stating that the object in question 

belonged to him. The investigator also questioned the applicant about the 

activities of his neighbours. No transcript of those interrogations was ever 

made. 

35.  From time to time the guards took the applicant out of his cell to 

another room for a short period of time, apparently when inspections 

occurred, and then brought him back. 

(viii)  Search for the applicant 

36.  At some point in March 2000 the applicant's sister, Ms L. S., and his 

cousin, Ms Kh. Z., found out that the applicant had disappeared. They 

returned to Grozny and started searching for him. 

37.  They applied in person and in writing to a military commander's 

office, the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, the local administration, the detention 

centre in Chernokozovo, the federal military base in Khankala and a 

morgue, but to no avail. 

38.  Some time later the applicant's sister received information that he 

had been seen in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. In the following weeks the 

applicant's sister and cousin unsuccessfully applied to the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD with enquiries about the applicant. 

39.  At some point in April 2000 the applicant's relatives finally managed 

to talk to the investigator in charge, who told them that the police had found 

explosives in the applicant's house. Ms L. S. answered that it was untrue and 

that her brother had never participated in military actions. The applicant's 

relatives then requested permission to see the applicant, but this was 

refused. However, they were allowed to send him a note and fresh clothes. 

The applicant's old clothes were returned to the applicant's sister, who 

checked them and saw blood on the shoulder and back of the applicant's 

shirt. 

40.  In the following weeks the applicant's relatives unsuccessfully 

requested authorisation to see the applicant. 

41.  On 12 May 2000 new police officers arrived from the Khanty-

Mansiysk Region of Russia and replaced the staff of the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD. Several days later Ms L. S. and Ms Kh. Z. were allowed to see the 

applicant for ten minutes in the presence of an investigating officer. They 
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were ordered to speak Russian only. According to them, the applicant was 

swollen, had lots of scars and one of his ears was missing. 

(ix)  The applicant's release 

42.  On 24 May 2000 an investigator of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD issued a 

decision to discontinue criminal proceedings in case no. 14206/03 instituted 

against the applicant for unlawful possession of explosives. The decision 

stated that the applicant had not lived in his house on a regular basis because 

of the hostilities and that for some time the house had been occupied by 

unknown armed men who might have brought the explosives which the 

applicant had then unintentionally kept. Besides this, the decision stated that 

“having been kept in detention, the applicant ceased to pose a danger to 

society” and could be released. It also explained the applicant's right to 

appeal against that decision to a prosecutor or in court. 

43.  Later that day the applicant was released and returned home. 

According to eyewitness statements, the applicant was in a very poor 

condition, being swollen, emaciated and pale, and with his left ear and teeth 

missing and his hip broken. 

(b)  The Government's account 

44.  According to the Government, on 5 March 2000 the Criminal 

Investigation Division of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD instituted criminal 

proceedings in case no. 14206/03 against the applicant on suspicion of 

having committed a criminal offence punishable under Article 222 

(unlawful possession of firearms and explosives) of the Russian Criminal 

Code. 

45.  During a search which was carried out in the applicant's house 

pursuant to an investigator's order of 5 March 2000 an explosive was found 

and seized. According to an expert report, which was communicated to the 

applicant, the explosive was a 200-gram TNT block. 

46.  On the same date the applicant was arrested pursuant to Article 122 

of the Code of Criminal Procedure. 

47.  On 6 March 2000 the case was sent to another division of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD for further investigation. 

48.  On 8 March 2000 the acting prosecutor of Grozny ordered the 

applicant to be remanded in custody, in accordance with Article 90 of the 

Code of Criminal Procedure. 

49.  On 15 March 2000 formal charges were brought against the 

applicant under Article 222 of the Russian Criminal Code. When 

questioned, the applicant was unable to give any explanation concerning the 

explosive found in his house. 

50.  On 24 May 2000 the Oktyabrskiy VOVD discontinued the criminal 

proceedings against the applicant with reference to Article 6 of the Code of 
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Criminal Procedure, notably because he had ceased to pose a danger to 

society, and released him. 

51.  On 2 August 2002 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic 

(прокуратура Чеченской Республики) set aside the decision of 24 May 

2000 and ordered that the criminal proceedings against the applicant be 

resumed. 

52.  By a decision of 20 February 2006 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic terminated the criminal proceedings against the applicant 

on the ground that the constituent elements of a crime had not been made 

out. The decision stated, in particular, that the search carried out in the 

applicant's house on 5 March 2000 had not been duly authorised and had 

been conducted in breach of procedural law with the result that the TNT 

block allegedly found during that search could not be regarded as reliable 

evidence of the applicant's involvement in the imputed offence, and that 

therefore there had been no grounds on which to bring criminal proceedings 

against him. 

2.  Official investigation into the applicant's allegation of ill-treatment 

(a)  The applicant's complaints to public bodies and information received by 

him 

53.  Shortly after his release, the applicant started complaining personally 

and in writing to various official bodies about his unlawful arrest and 

detention, ill-treatment in custody and the search of his house. Subsequently 

he complained to prosecutors offices at various levels of the ineffectiveness 

of the investigation, indicated the names of the perpetrators established 

during the investigation and requested that they be brought to justice. The 

applicant's efforts were supported by the SRJI and his lawyer. According to 

the applicant, his complaints mostly remained unanswered, or only formal 

responses were given by which the respective requests were forwarded to 

various prosecutor's offices “for examination”. 

54.  In particular, on an unspecified date he applied in writing to the 

Prosecutor General's Office of Russia, the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic, the Minister of the Interior of the Chechen Republic and 

two other high-ranking officials. In his complaint the applicant described in 

detail the events of 5 March to 24 May 2000 and requested that those 

responsible be punished. 

55.  On 23 October 2000 the Representative for Rights and Freedoms in 

Russia (Уполномоченный по правам человека в Российской Федерации) 

declined to examine the applicant's complaint on the ground that it was 

unclear and not supported by relevant documents. 

56.  On 1 March 2001 the Prosecutor General's Office of Russia referred 

the applicant's complaint to the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic. 



 SADYKOV v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT 9 

 

 

57.  In a letter of 22 March 2001 the military prosecutor of military unit 

no. 20102 (военная прокуратура – войсковая часть 20102) forwarded 

the applicant's complaint, along with several other applications, to the 

prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic. 

58.  On 22 March and 16 April 2001 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic transmitted the applicant's complaints concerning his 

unlawful detention “by unidentified servicemen” to the Grozny prosecutor's 

office. 

59.  On 4 and 25 July 2001 respectively the applicant complained in 

writing to the Administration of the Oktyabrskiy District of Grozny and to 

the Grozny prosecutor's office of the theft of his Oldsmobile car by police 

officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

60.  On 13 July 2001 Médecins Sans Frontières issued the applicant with 

a medical certificate which listed the after-effects of the injuries inflicted on 

him during his detention. It stated that a medical examination of the 

applicant on 13 July 2001 had revealed the following: 

“–  [The applicant] wears dentures which replace teeth 12 to 17, 22 to 27, 33 to 35, 

42 to 45. The original teeth were broken during his detention. 

–  The bridge of the nose is crooked, suggesting a possible set fracture. 

–  The left ear lobe is missing, and, while the auditory canal is not obstructed, the 

hearing capacity of the left ear is diminished. A shiny scar is visible, which extends 

6 cm from the external auditory canal towards the bottom part of the lower jaw and 

5 cm towards the mastoid bone and slightly beyond. 

–  A star-shaped scar is present on the palm of the right hand, suggesting a non-

transfixiant burn or wound. It is located opposite the 4th metacarpal. 

–  At the palpation of ribs 8, 9 and 10 facing the interior arc, are located still 

sensitive bone calluses, likely resulting from clean rib fractures. 

–  At the palpation of the top of the lower 1/3 tibia of the right leg is a discrete bone 

callus which could be connected to a non-displaced fracture or an incomplete fracture 

of the tibia.” 

61.  On 27 July 2001 the applicant lodged a written complaint with the 

Grozny prosecutor's office, describing the circumstances of his arrest, 

detention and ill-treatment, and the theft of his property, and requested that 

those responsible be punished. 

62.  On 28 July 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office forwarded the 

applicant's complaints to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD for investigation. 

63.  On 8 August 2001 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic 

forwarded the applicant's complaint concerning his ill-treatment to the 

Grozny prosecutor's office for examination. 
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64.  On 19 December 2001 and 29 January 2002 the SRJI, acting on the 

applicant's behalf, submitted similar complaints about the events of 5 March 

to 24 May 2000 to the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic. 

65.  In a letter of 3 January 2002, in reply to the SRJI's query, the 

prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic stated that criminal proceedings 

had been instituted in connection with the applicant's allegations of ill-

treatment in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. The letter did not indicate the date on 

which the criminal proceedings had been instituted or the number assigned 

to the criminal case file. 

66.  On 13 April 2002 the applicant made a written request to the 

prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic for copies of a number of 

documents from his case file. It does not appear that this request was 

granted. 

67.  In letters of 23 August and 26 October 2005, 25 September 2006 and 

22 January 2009 the applicant was informed that criminal proceedings had 

been instituted in cases opened in connection with his complaints (see 

paragraphs 137, 139, 145 and 153 below). 

(b)  Course of the investigation 

68.  According to the Government, on 30 June 2000 the applicant 

complained to the Grozny prosecutor's office that he had been unlawfully 

apprehended on 5 March 2000, and ill-treated while in detention, by officers 

of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

69.  On 13 July 2000 the Grozny prosecutor's office instituted criminal 

proceedings in the above connection under Article 286 § 3 (aggravated 

abuse of power) of the Russian Criminal Code. The case file was given the 

number 12088. 

70.  In the Government's submission, the applicant was granted victim 

status on 18 July 2000 and questioned on 17 July 2000, 25 August and 

19 October 2001, 3 December 2003, 16 and 23 April and 1 November 2004. 

He confirmed his version of events and stated that he had not applied to 

medical institutions after his release. 

71.  On 13 August 2000 the investigating authorities suspended the 

criminal proceedings for failure to identify those responsible. 

72.  On 24 August 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office ordered that the 

investigation be resumed. 

73.  On 30 August 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office instituted 

criminal proceedings under Article 158 § 2 (aggravated theft) of the Russian 

Criminal Code in connection with the theft by unidentified persons of an 

Oldsmobile car belonging to the applicant. The case file was assigned the 

number 15082 (see paragraph 97 below). 

74.  By a decision of 5 September 2001 the investigator in charge joined 

criminal cases nos. 12088 and 15082 under the former number (see 

paragraph 98 below). 
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75.  Between 24 September 2001 and 18 July 2002 the criminal 

proceedings were stayed and resumed on eight occasions (see paragraphs 

124 and 125 below). On the latter date the deputy prosecutor of Grozny 

ordered that criminal case no. 12088 be joined to two other criminal cases 

concerning abduction by officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD and the 

disappearance of several individuals. 

76.  On 18 October 2002 the investigation was stayed for failure to 

identify the alleged perpetrators, and then resumed on 15 November 2002. 

77.  By a decision of 19 May 2003 the investigator in charge brought 

charges under Article 293 § 2 (aggravated negligence of official duties) of 

the Russian Criminal Code against Mr Z., who at the relevant time was the 

head of the convoy group of the temporary holding facility of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD (“the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD”). On the same 

date the investigator ordered that Mr Z. be banned from leaving the place 

and put on the federal wanted list. 

78.  On 20 August 2003 the investigation was stayed pending the search 

for Mr Z. (see paragraphs 126-130 below), and then resumed on 

26 November 2003. 

79.  Between 3 December 2003 and 7 February 2006 the investigation 

was stayed owing to the failure to establish Mr Z.'s whereabouts and then 

reopened twelve times (see paragraphs 131-136, 138 and 140-142 below). 

80.  On 20 February 2006 the investigator brought charges under 

Articles 283 § 3 (c) (aggravated abuse of power) and 111 § 3 (aggravated 

deliberate infliction of serious damage on another's health) of the Russian 

Criminal Code against Mr D., who at the material time had been the deputy 

commander of the special fire team (специальная огневая группа) of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. Mr D. was banned from leaving his place of residence 

and put on the wanted list. 

81.  On 25 February 2006, further to the decision of 19 May 2003, 

charges under Article 283 § 3 (a) and (c) (aggravated abuse of power) of the 

Russian Criminal Code were brought against Mr Z. 

82.  By a decision of 2 March 2006 the investigator in charge banned 

Mr Ya., a suspect in the case, who at the material time had been the deputy 

head of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, from leaving his place of residence and put 

him on the wanted list. On 6 March 2006 a similar decision was taken in 

respect of Mr B., a suspect in the case, who at the relevant period had been 

the head of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

83.  Between 7 March 2006 and 9 January 2007 the proceedings were 

suspended for failure to establish the whereabouts of the suspects and 

accused and resumed on four occasions (see paragraphs 143-148 below). 

84.  According to the Government, on 16 March 2007 Mr B. was 

formally charged with abuse of power. On being questioned in that 

connection Mr B. denied all the charges and expressed his wish to avail 
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himself of an Amnesty Act, following which the criminal proceedings 

against him were discontinued on 20 March 2007. 

85.  Between 28 May 2007 and 19 January 2009 the investigation was 

stayed, for failure to establish the whereabouts of the suspects and accused, 

and resumed six times (see paragraphs 149-153 below). 

86.  On the latest occasion the investigation was stayed on 21 February 

2009 on grounds of the impossibility of continuing the investigation in the 

absence of Messrs Z., D. and B., whose whereabouts could not be 

established. 

87.  The Government submitted that a number of investigative measures 

had been taken during the investigation. In particular, the authorities had 

interviewed a number of police officers serving in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

at the relevant time. The Government maintained that Mr P., who had been 

seconded to Grozny as a senior inquiry officer, had stated that when being 

questioned during his detention the applicant had submitted that four or five 

unknown persons had cut off his ear the day before he had been 

apprehended. Mr P. also stated that the applicant had received the necessary 

medical aid during his detention (see paragraphs 184-186 below). 

According to the Government, Mr Dub., who had been the acting head of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD at the relevant time, gave similar oral testimony 

about the existence of bodily injuries on the applicant at the time when he 

had been apprehended (see paragraph 199 below). Mr Kir., who had been an 

officer of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD at the relevant time, stated that 

he had learnt from the applicant that his ear had been cut off a day or two 

prior to his detention by unknown members of illegal armed groups in 

reprisal for the applicant's refusal to cooperate with them (see paragraph 201 

below). Similar submissions were made by Mr Ya., the then deputy head of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD (see paragraph 202 below). According to the 

Government, the latter had also been interviewed on 11 April 2007 in 

connection with the theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile car, but had denied 

his involvement in that offence. 

88.  The Government stated that the authorities had also questioned a 

number of other officers who had served in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, and 

individuals who had been detained there, in 2000. They all said that they 

had no information concerning the alleged perpetrators. On 4 September 

and 9 October 2001 and on 15 November 2004 the investigating authorities 

also found and interviewed Mr K., who had shared a cell with the applicant. 

He stated that he had seen unknown individuals enter the cell in which he 

and the applicant were kept and cut off the applicant's ear (see paragraphs 

181-183 below). According to the Government, when being shown 

photographs of the presumed perpetrators the applicant and Mr K. had 

identified different persons. 

89.  The Government also stated, without indicating the date, that during 

the investigation the applicant had undergone a forensic medical 
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examination. According to them, this recorded the presence of bodily 

injuries, including the loss of hearing in the left ear, which were classified 

as serious damage to health, and other injuries which were classified as 

moderately serious damage to health. 

3.  The applicant's property 

(a)  Damage caused to the applicant's property 

90.  According to the applicant, upon his return home on 24 May 2000 he 

saw that his dog had been shot, his house partly burnt and his property, 

comprising his personal belongings and those of his relatives, furniture, an 

audio system, a satellite dish, looted. Nothing of value remained in the 

house. The applicant's two Subaru vehicles and his Oldsmobile car were 

missing. Later, he found out from his neighbours that while he had been in 

custody, masked men driving one of his Subaru cars, an Ural truck and an 

armoured personnel carrier had come to his house on numerous occasions 

and taken away his property. The men had warned the applicant's 

neighbours to stay away from his house, saying that they had mined it. 

91.  On an unspecified date the applicant drew up a report listing items of 

property that had been stolen during his detention and indicating that the 

pecuniary damage sustained amounted to 158,120 United States dollars 

(USD). The report was certified by the administration of the Oktyabrskiy 

District of Grozny. 

92.  Some time later the applicant found one of his Subaru vehicles. The 

minivan was parked in a street close to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. The car had 

been disassembled and burnt. According to the applicant, he also found his 

satellite dish on the territory of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, and he saw some of 

items of his stolen property in the possession of some officers of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

93.  Late in June 2000 the applicant found his Oldsmobile in the 

possession of a former officer of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, Mr Dzh. The 

latter claimed that he had purchased a share of the car, with several other 

officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, whose names were V., Sh. and 

Sulumbek, Khimzan and Ruslan, from federal servicemen for USD 500. 

The officers stated that they would only return the car to the applicant in 

exchange for the same sum of money as they had paid for it. The applicant 

refused to pay and lodged complaints about the looting of his property and 

seizure of his Oldsmobile car with various official bodies. According to 

him, Mr Dzh. eventually sold the vehicle. 

94.  On 11 October 2000 the applicant obtained a certificate confirming 

that his house and outhouses had been burnt and destroyed. 
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(b)  Criminal proceedings 

95.  In a letter of 5 January 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office ordered 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD to transfer to it the materials in a criminal case 

instituted in connection with the theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile vehicle 

for supervision by the prosecutor's office in the course of the investigation. 

The letter did not indicate the date on which the criminal case had allegedly 

been opened. 

96.  On 15 August 2001 the deputy head of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

forwarded to the Grozny prosecutor's office the material concerning “the 

unlawful seizure by officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD of an Oldsmobile 

car from [the applicant]”. 

97.  On 30 August 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office instituted 

criminal proceedings under Article 158 § 2 (c) and (d) (aggravated theft) of 

the Russian Criminal Code in connection with the theft of the applicant's 

Oldsmobile vehicle. The case file was given the number 15082. The 

decision stated that “there was information to the effect that the offence had 

been committed by officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

98.  In a decision of 5 September 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office 

joined case no. 12088 concerning the ill-treatment of the applicant and case 

no. 15082 concerning the theft of his car under the former number, stating 

that the said two offences had been committed by the same persons. 

99.  In a letter of 30 August 2001 the Grozny prosecutor's office 

informed the applicant that criminal proceedings had been brought in 

connection with his complaint about the theft of his Oldsmobile and that the 

investigation was under way. The prosecutor's office did not specify the 

date on which the criminal proceedings had been instituted or the number 

assigned to the criminal case. 

100.  On 23 August 2005 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic 

instituted criminal proceedings under Article 158 § 2 (a) and (c) (aggravated 

theft) of the Russian Criminal Code in connection with the theft of the 

applicant's Subaru car which had been established during the investigation 

in case no. 12088. The decision stated that the said vehicle had been stolen 

from the applicant's courtyard in late March 2000 by an unidentified group 

of police officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD seconded to the Chechen 

Republic from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region. The case file was given the 

number 61856 and joined to case no. 12088 on the same date. 

101.  On 23 August 2005 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic 

also instituted criminal proceedings under Articles 158 § 3 (aggravated 

theft) and 167 § 1 (deliberate destruction of another's property) of the 

Russian Criminal Code in connection with the theft and destruction by 

unidentified persons of the applicant's possessions, including a Subaru 

minivan. The case file was assigned the number 61857 (see paragraphs 206-

214 below). 
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102.  By a decision of 20 February 2009 the investigator ordered that the 

materials initially relating to cases nos. 15082 and 61856 be disjoined from 

case no. 12088, stating that they contained evidence of offences punishable 

under Articles 158 § 4 (b) (aggravated theft) and 167 § 1 (deliberate 

destruction of another's property) of the Russian Criminal Code and that 

they were not related to the offences under investigation in case no. 12088. 

The decision ordered that a new set of criminal proceedings be instituted 

under the aforementioned Articles of the Russian Criminal Code and that 

the case be assigned the number 15082. 

(c)  The applicant's attempts to institute civil proceedings 

(i)  Claim for recovery of property 

103.  On 7 October 2002 the applicant filed a claim with the Oktyabrskiy 

District Court of Grozny against brothers I. Dhz. and Kh. Dzh. and four 

officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, V., Sh., Sul. and A. He stated that two 

vehicles, an Oldsmobile and a Subaru, had been stolen from him during his 

detention between 5 March and 24 May 2000, that he had later found his 

Subaru vehicle disassembled in the street and that he had found his 

Oldsmobile car at Mr Dhz.'s home address in Urus-Martan. According to 

the applicant, Mr Dhz. had stated that he and the other co-defendants had 

purchased two vehicles on 20 April 2004 for USD 500 from officers of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD and that he had been prepared to return the vehicles to 

the applicant for the equivalent amount. The applicant thus sought to have 

his Oldsmobile car returned to him and to recover the amount of USD 1,500 

for the damaged Subaru vehicle. He also requested the court to issue an 

injunction order in respect of the Oldsmobile. 

104.  On 14 October 2002 the Oktyabrskiy District Court refused to 

accept the applicant's claim for examination, stating that the facts stated by 

the applicant contained elements of a criminal offence punishable under 

Article 158 § 2 (aggravated theft) of the Russian Criminal Code and should 

be investigated in criminal proceedings and that the defendants resided in 

Urus-Martan. This decision was upheld on appeal by the Supreme Court of 

the Chechen Republic on 29 October 2002. 

105.  By a decision of 21 June 2003 the Urus-Martan Town Court 

refused to accept the applicant's claim for examination, stating that the facts 

submitted by the applicant contained elements of a criminal offence 

punishable under Article 158 § 2 of the Russian Criminal Code and should 

be investigated in criminal proceedings, and that in the context of such 

criminal proceedings the applicant could be granted the status of a civil 

claimant and seek compensation for the damage sustained. It does not 

appear that the applicant appealed against that decision. 
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(ii)  Claim for compensation 

106.  On 7 October 2002 the applicant filed a claim with the Oktyabrskiy 

District Court of Grozny against the Russian Ministry of the Interior, the 

Russian Ministry of Finance and the Federal Treasury. He listed in detail the 

damage caused to his property and sought compensation for pecuniary 

damage in the amount of USD 158,120 and compensation for non-pecuniary 

damage in the amount of USD 1,000,000. 

107.  In a decision of 11 October 2002 the Oktyabrskiy District Court of 

Grozny refused to accept this claim for examination, stating that it should 

have been lodged with a court in the area of the defendants' address in 

Moscow. 

108.  On 29 October 2002 the Supreme Court of the Chechen Republic 

upheld the first-instance decision on appeal. 

109.  By a decision of 12 May 2003 the Presnenskiy District Court of 

Moscow returned the applicant's claim on the ground that it did not fall 

within the territorial limits on its jurisdiction, and stating that the applicant 

should file his action with any district court in the area of the defendants' 

address. 

110.  On 3 September 2003 the Presnenskiy District Court of Moscow 

again returned the applicant's claim, invoking the same reasons. 

111.  By a decision of 2 September 2003 the Khamovnicheskiy District 

Court of Moscow declined to consider the applicant's claim and invited the 

applicant to indicate the defendants' addresses by 27 November 2003. In a 

letter of 8 December 2003 the court returned the materials to the applicant, 

referring to his failure to rectify the shortcoming within the stated time-

limit. 

112.  On 4 December 2003 the applicant filed a claim against the Russian 

Ministry of Finance with the Khamovnicheskiy District Court of Moscow. 

According to the applicant, on 9 January 2004 the court returned his claim 

on the ground that it fell outside the territorial limits on its jurisdiction and 

invited the applicant to apply to a district court in the area of the defendant's 

address. 

113.  On 30 August 2004 the applicant filed a claim against the Russian 

Ministry of the Interior and the Russian Ministry of Finance with the 

Khamovnicheskiy District Court of Moscow. He claims that he did not 

receive any reply from the court. 

114.  In a letter of 6 September 2004 the Supreme Court of Russia 

replied to the applicant's complaint concerning the district courts' refusal to 

accept his claim for examination. The letter stated that the applicant's claim 

had to meet the relevant requirements of procedural law and, in particular, 

had to be filed with a court in the area of the defendant's address, namely, 

the Basmanny District Court of Moscow, which was the court having 

territorial jurisdiction for the Russian Ministry of Finance. The applicant did 

not pursue that claim. 
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115.  On 21 August 2008 the applicant filed another claim for 

compensation for his property. He stated that during the military campaign 

in the Chechen Republic in 1999-2002 his housing and other property had 

been destroyed during a shelling and that, in accordance with the relevant 

governmental decree, he had received from the State compensation in the 

amount of 350,000 Russian roubles (RUB, approximately 9,000 euros, 

(EUR)) in that connection, which, however, had been much lower than the 

amount of the actual damage he had suffered. 

116.  By a judgment of 5 December 2008 the Staropromyslovskiy 

District Court of Grozny dismissed the applicant's claim, noting that the 

applicant had failed to submit any evidence to substantiate the amount of the 

actual damage which he had indicated in his claim. This judgment was 

upheld on appeal by the Supreme Court of the Chechen Republic on 

27 January 2009. 

B.  Documents submitted by the parties 

1.  The Court's requests for the investigation files 

117.  In June 2005, at the communication stage, the Government were 

invited to indicate whether criminal proceedings had been instituted in 

respect of the applicant's allegations of ill-treatment and looting of his 

property, and, if so, which numbers had been given to the respective 

criminal cases. They were also invited to produce documents pertaining to 

those criminal cases. Relying on the information obtained from the 

Prosecutor General's Office, the Government informed the Court that the 

investigation in connection with the alleged ill-treatment of the applicant 

and damage to his property was under way and that the case file had been 

assigned the number 12088. The Government refused, however, to submit 

any documents from the file, stating that their disclosure would be in 

violation of Article 161 of the Russian Code of Criminal Procedure because 

the file contained information of a military nature and personal data 

concerning the participants in the criminal proceedings. At the same time, 

the Government suggested that a Court delegation be given access to the file 

at the place where the preliminary investigation was being conducted, with 

the exception of “the documents [disclosing military information and 

personal data concerning the witnesses], and without the right to make 

copies of the case file and to transmit it to others”. 

118.  In November 2005 the Court reiterated its request and suggested 

that Rule 33 § 3 of the Rules of Court be applied. In reply, the Government 

submitted documents running to 76 pages but refused to produce the entire 

investigation file for the aforementioned reasons. The documents submitted 

by the Government included a list of documents in the case file, decisions to 

initiate criminal proceedings, a decision granting the applicant victim status, 
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decisions to suspend and resume the investigation, various investigators' 

decisions to take up the case, a decision to join cases, a decision ordering 

that the investigation be carried out by an investigative group and a decision 

extending the period of preliminary investigation. 

119.  The applicant, for his part, managed, with the assistance of the 

Committee against Torture – a Russian NGO based in Nizhniy Novgorod – 

to obtain a substantial portion of the file in criminal case no. 12088 for the 

period 2000-2005. He enclosed around 1,000 pages from the file, running, 

as can be seen, to twelve volumes with his comments on the Government's 

observations on the admissibility of the present application. 

120.  On 22 January 2009 the application was declared partly admissible. 

At that stage the Court invited the Government to provide information on 

the progress after November 2005 made in investigating case no. 12088 

concerning the alleged ill-treatment of the applicant and the theft of his 

Oldsmobile and Subaru vehicles, and to produce copies of all the documents 

from the investigation file pertaining to the period stated. The Government 

were also invited to provide information on the progress made, and to 

produce the entire copy of the file, in investigating case no. 61857 

concerning the theft and destruction of the applicant's possessions, including 

his Subaru minivan. 

121.  In March 2009 the Government produced several documents 

running to 95 pages from the files in criminal cases nos. 12088 and 61857, 

including decisions to suspend and resume criminal proceedings, decisions 

to disjoin a criminal case concerning the theft of the applicant's property, a 

decision granting the applicant victim status in case no. 61857, a transcript 

of the applicant's witness interview, investigators' decisions to take up the 

case, a decision ordering that the investigation be carried out by an 

investigative group, a decision extending the period of the preliminary 

investigation, and decisions to transfer the case from one investigator to 

another. The Government refused to produce any other materials, referring 

to Article 161 of the Russian Code of Criminal Procedure. 

122.  The documents submitted by the parties, in so far as relevant, may 

be summarised as follows. 

2.  Documents from the investigation file in case no. 12088 

(a)  Documents relating to the conduct of the investigation and informing the 

applicant of its progress 

123.  By a decision of 13 July 2000 the Grozny prosecutor's office 

instituted criminal proceedings under Article 286 § 3 (a) (aggravated abuse 

of power) of the Russian Criminal Code in connection with the applicant's 

allegations of his unlawful detention and ill-treatment by officers of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD in his complaint of 30 June 2000. The case file was 

given the number 12088. 
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124.  By similar decisions of 13 August 2000, 24 September, 

6 November and 19 December 2001 and 30 January 2002 the investigation 

in case no. 12088 was suspended. The very succinct decisions stated that it 

had been impossible to identify those responsible and instructed the 

Criminal Investigation Division of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD (eventually the 

Oktyabrskiy District Office of the Interior – “the Oktyabrskiy ROVD”) to 

“take measures” to identify the alleged perpetrators. 

125.  In similar decisions of 24 August, 6 October, 19 November and 

30 December 2001 and 18 July 2002 supervising prosecutors set aside the 

decisions of 13 August 2000, 24 September, 6 November and 19 December 

2001 and 30 January 2002 respectively, stating that the investigation had 

been incomplete, that the circumstances of the incident had not been 

established fully and objectively and that a number of necessary 

investigative measures had not been taken. The decisions ordered that the 

proceedings be resumed and listed the requisite investigative measures. The 

decisions of 19 November and 30 December 2001 and 18 July 2002 also 

stated that the investigating authorities had failed to comply with the 

prosecutors' earlier instructions and had not performed a number of 

investigative measures listed in the previous decisions. 

126.  A decision of 20 August 2003 ordered that the investigation be 

suspended. It listed in detail the investigative measures that had been 

performed, including questioning the applicant and granting him victim 

status, questioning a number of officials who at the relevant time had been 

serving at the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, Messrs P., Dub., S., B., Ya., A., Sh., V. 

and Z. being among their number, questioning Mr K. – the applicant's 

cellmate, seizing photographs of officers of the Khanty-Mansiysk Regional 

Department of the Interior seconded for the relevant period to the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD and identification – from their photographs – by the 

applicant and Mr K. of the officers involved. 

127.  The decision further stated that queries had been sent to competent 

bodies with a view to finding the cars stolen from the applicant and locating 

Mr Dzh., who had possibly been involved in stealing them. The decision 

went on to say that Mr Z., whom the applicant had identified from a 

photograph, had confirmed that he had let into the applicant's cell officers 

from the special fire group of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, who had cut off the 

applicant's ear. It further stated that charges of aggravated negligence of 

official duties had been brought against Mr Z., who had been put on the 

federal wanted list as he had absconded from the investigating authorities 

with the result that it had so far not been possible to show him photographs 

for identification of the officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD allegedly 

involved. 

128.  The decision went on to state that the applicant and Mr K. had also 

identified Mr Ab. as the person who had inflicted physical violence on 

detainees and photographed the applicant after his ear had been cut off. 
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According to the decision, the investigator seconded to the Khanty-Maniysk 

Region had been unable to interview Mr Ab., as the latter had been on 

annual leave in the Republic of Uzbekistan. 

129.  The decision also mentioned that the applicant had identified, from 

a photograph, Mr N. as one of the people who had inflicted bodily injuries 

on him and Mr D. as one of the people who had also participated in 

inflicting bodily injuries on him, and that Mr K. had identified, from a 

photograph, Mr N. as a person resembling the one who had cut off the 

applicant's ear. 

130.  The decision went on to note that, when carrying out investigative 

measures within the territory of the Khanty-Mansiysk Region, the 

investigator had encountered reluctance on the part of a number of high-

ranking officials of Khanty-Mansiysk Regional Department of the Interior 

to allow him to have contact with their subordinates, with the result that he 

had been unable to interview a number of officers from the Khanty-

Mansiysk Regional Department of the Interior who, under various pretexts, 

had ignored his summons to appear for questioning. The decision indicated 

that it was essential for the establishment of the circumstances of the case to 

organise confrontations between the applicant, Mr K. and officers N., D. 

and Ab., who had been summoned to appear at the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic by 10 November 2003. The decision concluded that all 

investigative measures which could have been carried out in the absence of 

the aforementioned officers had been performed and that therefore the 

proceedings should be suspended pending their arrival in Grozny and until 

Mr Z.'s whereabouts were established. 

131.  A decision of 13 April 2004 ordered that the investigation in case 

no. 12088, which had most recently been suspended on 3 December 2003, 

be resumed. It stated that the decision to suspend the proceedings had been 

unlawful as the investigating authorities had not performed all investigative 

measures that could have been carried out in the absence of those 

responsible and, in particular, had failed to comply with the investigator's 

instructions and with supervising prosecutors' orders. 

132.  Decisions of 13 May and 26 November 2004 ordered that the 

proceedings in case no. 12088 be stayed. The decisions were similar to that 

of 20 August 2003. In particular, they referred to the same measures carried 

out during the investigation as those listed in the decision of 20 August 

2003. They also stated that, in reply to their relevant queries, the 

investigating authorities had received information to the effect that Mr Dhz. 

had died on 6 January 2002; they contained no indication, however, as to 

whether the actions prescribed by the decision of 20 August 2003, such as 

confrontations between the applicant, Mr K. and officers N., Deg. and Ab. 

(see paragraph 130 above) had been performed, nor did they indicate 

whether, and if so which, measures had been taken with a view to 

establishing Mr Z.'s whereabouts. The decisions concluded that all possible 
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investigative measures had been performed and that it was impossible, in 

the absence of Mr Z., whose whereabouts remained unknown, to take 

measures to identify the persons who had inflicted bodily injuries on the 

applicant. 

133.  A decision of 20 October 2004 set aside the decision of 13 May 

2004 and ordered that the investigation be resumed. According to that 

decision, the investigating authorities had not performed all investigative 

measures that could have been carried out in the absence of those 

responsible. It pointed out, in particular, that a number of the investigator's 

instructions had not been complied with, the identities of witnesses of the 

theft of the applicant's property had not been established and the relevant 

individuals interviewed. The decision stated that all other necessary 

investigative measures should be taken. It was signed by the investigator to 

the effect that “the interested persons” had been apprised of it on 26 October 

2004. 

134.  A decision of 26 May 2005 quashed the decision of 26 November 

2004 and ordered that the investigation be resumed. It then ordered that a 

number of investigative measures be carried out, and in particular, that the 

measures indicated in the decisions of 13 April and 20 October 2004 be 

complied with in full, that the search for Mr Z. be conducted more actively, 

that additional evidence be searched for to confirm the involvement of 

Mr N., Mr D. and Mr Ab. in the incident of 11 March 2000 and, if such 

evidence was obtained, that relevant charges be brought against those 

responsible, that the applicant's arguments advanced in his complaints of 

17 August and 22 September 2004 be investigated, and that other necessary 

steps be taken. 

135.  A decision of 4 July 2005 ordered the suspension of the criminal 

proceedings. It was similar to the decisions of 13 May and 26 November 

2004 and listed the same investigative measures that had been carried out. 

The decision added that during an additional investigation Mr Z.'s 

whereabouts had been established at the address of his permanent place of 

residence; however, given that “a preventive measure in the form of an 

undertaking not to leave his place of residence had been applied to him, it 

had been impossible to deliver him to Grozny”. The decision concluded that 

all investigative measures that could have been conducted in the absence of 

Mr Z. had been performed and that the preliminary investigation should be 

stayed “until there was a real possibility of participation in the criminal 

proceedings of the accused Z.” The decision was signed by the investigator 

to the effect that the accused Z. and the applicant had been apprised of it. 

136.  A decision of 17 August 2005 set aside the decision of 4 July 2005 

as unlawful and unfounded stating that a number of essential steps had not 

been taken, and, in particular, that no legal classification had been given to 

the actions of Mr D., Mr N. and Mr Ab., identified by the applicant as those 

involved in the incident of 11 March 2000, that the theft of the applicant's 



22 SADYKOV v. RUSSIA JUDGMENT 

property and Mr Ya.'s possible involvement in that offence had not been 

duly investigated, that an additional forensic medical examination of the 

applicant – necessary in view of the presence in the case file of two 

conflicting reports on medical examinations conducted earlier – had not 

been performed, and that other necessary measures had not been taken. The 

decision thus ordered that the proceedings be resumed. 

137.  In a letter of 30 August 2005 the investigator informed the 

applicant and his lawyer that on 13 July 2000 criminal proceedings in case 

no. 12088 had been instituted in connection with the infliction of bodily 

injuries on the applicant by unidentified police officers of the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD, that on 30 August 2001 criminal proceedings in case no. 15082 had 

been instituted in connection with the theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile 

vehicle presumably by officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, that on 

5 September 2001 those two cases had been joined under number 12088, 

and that on 23 August 2005 criminal proceedings had been instituted in case 

no. 61856 in connection with the theft of the applicant's Subaru vehicle by 

unidentified police officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD seconded to the 

Chechen Republic from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region. The letter went on to 

say that during the period of the applicant's detention between 5 March and 

24 May 2000 a group of unidentified persons had broken into his house and 

stolen his property including a Subaru minivan, causing him pecuniary 

damage amounting to USD 148,620 and that during the same period 

unidentified persons had deliberately destroyed the applicant's property – 

his house and outhouses – causing him considerable pecuniary damage. The 

letter stated that criminal proceedings had been brought in that connection 

and that the new case had been disjoined from case no. 12088 and given the 

number 61857. Lastly, the letter stated that the investigation in case no. 

12088 had been resumed and was in progress. 

138.  A decision of 30 September 2005 ordered that the proceedings in 

case no. 12088 be suspended as all investigative measures that it had been 

possible to perform in the absence of the accused had been carried out. It 

stated, briefly, that during an additional investigation Mr Z.'s whereabouts 

had been established at his home address; however, Mr Z. had then fled 

from the investigating authorities and, at present, his whereabouts remained 

unknown. 

139.  In a letter of 26 October 2005 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic informed the applicant's lawyer of the criminal cases 

opened into the applicant's allegations of ill-treatment and theft of his 

property and stated that at present the proceedings in case no. 12088 had 

been stayed pending the search for the accused. 

140.  A decision of 21 November 2005 set aside the decision of 

30 September 2005 as premature and ordered the resumption of the 

investigation. It stated, in particular, that although the case file contained 

evidence implicating officers N. and Ya. in the offences against the 
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applicant, no procedural decision had yet been taken in their regard. It also 

noted that the investigating authorities had not yet decided on the question 

of whether to bring proceedings against Mr Z. separately. 

141.  By a decision of 24 December 2005 the investigation was 

suspended owing to the failure to establish Mr Z.'s whereabouts. The 

decision restated the circumstances of the offence imputed to Mr Z. and 

indicated that charges of aggravated negligence of official duties had been 

brought against him, that he had been banned from leaving his place of 

residence and eventually put on the wanted list in view of the fact that he 

had repeatedly failed to appear at the prosecutor's office and had been 

absent from his place of residence for a long period. The decision concluded 

that it was impossible to continue the investigation in the absence of the 

accused and ordered the Criminal Investigation Division of the Oktyabrskiy 

ROVD to organise a search for him. 

142.  In a decision of 7 February 2006 a supervising prosecutor quashed 

the decision of 24 December 2005 and ordered that the investigation be 

resumed. The decision of 7 February 2006 was similar to that of 

21 November 2005 and stated, in particular, that until that time no 

procedural decisions had been taken against police officers N. and Ya. 

despite the evidence of their involvement in the offences against the 

applicant. 

143.  By a decision of 7 March 2006 the investigator in charge stayed the 

proceedings. The decision was similar to that of 24 December 2005 and 

stated, in addition, that charges had been brought against Mr D. and that he 

and Mr B. and Mr Ya. had been banned from leaving their place of 

residence and put on the wanted list (see paragraphs 80 and 82 above). It 

went on to say that it was impossible to continue the investigation in the 

absence of Mr Z., Mr D., Mr Ya. And Mr B., whose whereabouts were 

unknown, and instructed the Criminal Investigation Division of the 

Oktyabrskiy ROVD to organise a search for them. 

144.  A decision of 21 August 2006 set aside the decision of 7 March 

2006 as unlawful and unfounded and ordered that the proceedings be 

reopened. It stated, in particular, that the investigating authorities had not 

performed all investigative measures which could be carried out in the 

absence of Mr Z., Mr D., Mr Ya. And Mr B., and that no steps had been 

taken with a view to establishing their whereabouts. The decision noted that, 

although the case file contained information regarding the identity and the 

duty station of the aforementioned four officers, the investigation had failed 

to interview their relatives, neighbours and colleagues, or to conduct 

searches at the places of their service or residence with a view to finding 

relevant evidence and locating them. 

145.  By a decision of 25 September 2006, similar to that of 7 March 

2006, the investigation was again suspended. The applicant was informed of 

that decision by a letter of the same date. 
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146.  In a letter of 5 October 2006 the applicant complained to the 

prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic about the decision of 

25 September 2006 and requested the prosecutor's office to resume the 

investigation. He indicated the addresses of the individuals whose 

whereabouts, according to the decision of 25 September 2006, could not be 

established. 

147.  In a letter of 12 October 2006 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic informed the applicant that his complaint of 5 October 

2006 had been examined and disallowed. The letter did not elaborate on the 

reasons. 

148.  A decision of 9 January 2007 quashed the decision of 25 September 

2006 as unlawful and unfounded. It was noted that the investigating 

authorities had not performed all investigative measures which could be 

carried out in the absence of the suspects and accused, and that no measures 

had been taken with a view to establishing the whereabouts of Mr Z., Mr D., 

Mr Ya. and Mr B. and delivering them to the Chechen Republic for 

investigative action although in the case file there was information 

concerning the place of their service and residence. 

149.  A decision of 28 May 2007 ordered that the criminal proceedings 

be stayed. It listed investigative measures similar to those mentioned in the 

decisions of 7 March and 25 September 2006 taken in respect of Mr D., 

Mr Z. and Mr B. and concluded that it was impossible to continue the 

investigation in the absence of those three officers. 

150.  A decision of 29 May 2007 ordered that the criminal proceedings 

be resumed, with reference to the necessity to complete a forensic 

examination ordered on 29 April 2007. 

151.  Decisions of 29 June 2007, 25 December 2008 and 21 February 

2009, similar to that of 28 May 2007, ordered that the investigation be 

suspended pending the search for Mr D., Mr Z. and Mr B., whose 

whereabouts remained unknown. 

152.  A decision of 24 November 2008 ordered that the criminal 

proceedings be resumed. It stated that the decision of 29 June 2007 was 

unlawful and unfounded, as all versions of the incidents under investigation 

had not been checked and it was necessary to intensify the search for Mr Z. 

and Mr D. 

153.  A decision of 19 January 2009 set aside the decision of 

25 December 2008 as unlawful and unfounded, stating that the investigating 

authorities had not taken all possible measures. It ordered, inter alia, 

identification by the applicant of Mr M. (see paragraph 161 below), an 

interview of Mr M. as a witness in connection with the circumstances of the 

case and, in particular, determination as to whether he had participated in 

inflicting bodily injuries on the applicant, an examination of the question 

whether the materials concerning the theft of the applicant's property should 

be examined separately, as it had not been proven during the preliminary 
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investigation that the offence in question had been committed by the same 

individuals who had inflicted bodily injuries on the applicant, an 

examination of the question whether to discontinue the prosecution of 

Mr B., who had expressed his intention to avail himself of an Amnesty Act 

of 22 September 2006 that had been passed in respect of perpetrators of 

criminal offences during counter-terrorist operations within the territory of 

the Southern Federal Circuit, and the performance of other investigative 

measures. The applicant was informed of the decision of 19 January 2009 

by a letter of 22 January 2009. 

(b)  Reports on the results of the applicant's forensic medical examinations 

154.  The materials in the Court's possession reveal that during the 

investigation the applicant underwent forensic medical examinations on at 

least three occasions. It appears that the applicant was first examined by 

experts on 7 September 2001. The results of the examination are unclear 

because the relevant report is missing. 

155.  The case file contains a report on the applicant's forensic medical 

examination dated 4 April 2003. The results of that examination are unclear 

because the relevant part of the document is illegible. The report referred, 

however, to the forensic medical examination which the applicant had 

undergone earlier. It stated, in particular: 

“A forensic medical examination was ordered on 7 September 2001 in order to 

establish the degree of damage inflicted on the applicant's health by unlawful actions 

of the VOVD officers. According to expert report no. 192 of 7 September 2001, it was 

established that [the applicant] had lost his hearing capacity, had a scar on his left ear, 

and had eleven teeth missing from his upper jaw. The report does not indicate [the 

applicant's] other injuries, nor does it evaluate the degree of damage caused to his 

health. It is therefore necessary at present to conduct an additional forensic medical 

examination in order to establish and evaluate all injuries inflicted on [the applicant] 

by unlawful actions of police officers.” 

156.  A report of 30 June 2005 attested to the closed fracture of the 

applicant's four ribs on the right side, the amputation of his left ear and the 

complete loss of hearing in the left ear, scars on the left side of the lower 

jaw and traumatic extraction of eleven teeth from the upper jaw. The report 

indicated that the applicant's ear could have been amputated by a sharp tool 

such as a knife or similar object and that the other injuries could have been 

sustained as a result of the repeated application of hard blunt object(s), 

possibly during the period and in the circumstances described by the 

applicant. It then stated that the total deafness in the left ear had entailed a 

considerable and lasting disability and that the ablation of the left ear had 

led to a facial defect necessitating plastic surgery. The report also mentioned 

that at present the applicant complained of deafness in his left ear and of 

discomfort caused by the absence of his left ear and that he was wearing his 

hair long in an attempt to hide his defect and avoided other people, 
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including his friends and relatives, as he felt embarrassed about his 

appearance. 

(c)  Documents relating to investigative measures 

157.  By an investigator's decision of 18 July 2000 the applicant was 

granted victim status. The decision did not refer to any case number and was 

signed by the applicant to the effect that he had been informed of that 

decision on the same date and his procedural rights had been explained to 

him. 

158.  The materials in the Court's possession reveal that in the period 

between November 2001 and August 2003 the investigating authorities sent 

a number of queries and requests to law-enforcements bodies in the 

Chechen Republic and in the Khanty-Mansiysk Region. In particular, they 

sought and obtained a list of police officers of the Khanty-Mansiysk 

Regional Department of the Interior seconded to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD in 

2000-2001, photographs and transcripts of witness interviews of a number 

of those officers. 

159.  On an unspecified date the applicant identified Mr Z. from a 

photograph as the guard of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD who had let 

into the applicant's cell two individuals who had cut off his ear. On 

10 February and 13 May 2003 Mr K. also identified Mr Z., stating that the 

latter had guarded the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD in March 2000 and 

that it was he who had let in two individuals, one of whom had then cut off 

the applicant's ear. 

160.  On 26 November 2002 the applicant identified Mr B. from a 

photograph as the officer who, upon the applicant's delivery to the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD on 5 March 2000, had beaten him, along with other 

officers, with an automatic rifle butt and then pressed a red-hot metal bar 

into the palm of his right hand, his face, forehead and tongue, and had cut 

the applicant's hair and forced him to chew it. On 28 November 2002 Mr K. 

also identified Mr B. from a photograph, stating that he had heard the latter, 

in the office of the head of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, order one of 

his subordinates to smash detainees' fingers with a sledgehammer. Mr K. 

also stated that Mr B. had been aware of all unlawful actions that had taken 

place in the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

161.  On 4 April 2003 the applicant identified Mr M. from a photograph 

as the officer who, at the relevant period, had been seconded from the 

Khanty-Mansiysk Region as head of the Criminal Investigation Division of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD and who, according to a relevant decision, had 

committed suicide on 12 October 2001. The applicant stated that Mr M. had 

never committed any form of physical violence against him. On 13 May 

2003 Mr K. identified Mr M. from a photograph as an officer of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD and stated that the latter had not been involved in any 

incidents with him. 
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162.  On 8 May 2003 the applicant and Mr K. identified Mr Ab. from a 

photograph as the guard at the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD who had 

photographed the applicant immediately after his ear had been cut off (see 

paragraph 25 above). 

163.  The decision of 19 May 2003 by which Mr Z. was charged under 

Article 293 § 2 of the Russian Criminal Code (see paragraph 77 above) 

stated that, on 11 March 2000, the latter had neglected his duties as a guard 

of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD because, in breach of the relevant 

regulations, he had opened the applicant's cell and let in unidentified 

officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, one of whom had then cut off the 

applicant's ear thus causing severe damage to the applicant's health. The 

report went on to say that Mr Z. had further neglected his official duties by 

failing to report the incident to his superiors. 

164.  Two decisions of 19 May 2003 stated that Mr Z. had failed to 

appear at the requests of the investigating authorities and that his 

whereabouts were unknown. One of the decisions accordingly banned Mr Z. 

from leaving his place of residence and another one ordered that a search for 

him be organised. 

165.  On 20 May 2003 the applicant identified Mr D. from a photograph 

as the person who had cut off his ear at the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

on the night of 11 March 2000. The applicant stated that he had never seen 

that individual before the incident of 11 March 2000 and that he was certain 

that it was the man who had inflicted the said injury on him. The applicant 

added that at the time of the incident the identified person's face had been 

thinner. 

166.  In a decision of 23 May 2003 the investigator requested a 

prosecutor to authorise an extension of the period of the preliminary 

investigation. The decision listed the investigative measures that had been 

taken, including questioning the applicant and granting him victim status, 

questioning a number of officials of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, including 

Mr P., Mr Dub., Mr S., Mr B., Mr Ya., Mr A., Mr Sh., Mr V. and Mr Z., 

questioning Mr K., seizing photographs of officers of the Khanty-Mansiysk 

Regional Department of the Interior seconded for the relevant period to the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD and identification by the applicant and Mr K. from 

photographs of officers allegedly implicated in the offence. The decision 

stated that given that the officers who had been serving at the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD during the relevant period lived in the Khanty-Mansiysk Region, in 

April 2003 the investigator had been seconded there and had obtained 

evidence of the involvement of a number of those officers in the alleged 

offence. In particular, Mr Z., who had been identified by the applicant from 

a photograph, and Mr K. had confirmed that Mr Z. had let officers from the 

special fire group of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD into the applicant's cell and 

that the officers had then cut off the applicant's ear. The decision went on to 

say that charges of aggravated negligence of official duties had been 
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brought against Mr Z., who was at present on the federal wanted list as he 

was absconding from the investigating authorities. According to the 

decision, it had so far been impossible to interview Mr Ab., identified by the 

applicant from a photograph, and Mr K., as he had been on annual leave in 

the Republic of Uzbekistan. The decision also mentioned that the applicant 

had identified Mr D. from a photograph as the person who had cut off his 

ear and stated that measures were being taken with a view to establishing 

Mr D.'s whereabouts and bringing charges against him. The decision then 

listed the investigative measures which should be taken, including, in 

particular, questioning Mr D., Mr Ab., Mr B. and carrying out an additional 

forensic medical examination of the applicant as the results of the previous 

two examinations had been conflicting. 

167.  In a letter of 22 July 2003 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen 

Republic requested the Ministry of the Interior of the Chechen Republic to 

investigate the alleged involvement of officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD in 

the theft of the applicant's property, including three foreign-made cars, as 

during the investigation in case no. 12088 one of the cars had been found in 

Urus-Martan at the home address of Mr Dhz., a former officer of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD, and another car had been found in Grozny at the 

temporary address of Mr A., Mr V., Mr Sh. and Mr Sul., officers of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. In a letter of 3 June 2004 the Ministry of the Interior of 

the Chechen Republic replied to the prosecutor's office of the Chechen 

Republic saying that an internal check carried out upon the latter's request 

had established that the aforementioned officers had never lived at the 

address indicated. According to the letter, the implication of those officers 

in the theft of the applicant's cars had therefore not been established. 

168.  On 15 August 2003 the applicant identified Mr N. from a 

photograph as the person who had cut off his ear at the IVS of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD on 11 March 2000. On 20 August 2003 Mr K. also 

identified Mr N. from a photograph, stating that he resembled the person 

who had cut off the applicant's ear and that at the time of the incident the 

person had had a thinner face and shorter hair. 

169.  By a summons of 9 September 2003 the investigator ordered 

Mr D., Mr N. and Mr Ab., all residing in the Khanty-Mansiysk Region, to 

appear at the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic for questioning as 

witnesses. In a letter of the same date the investigator requested the head of 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Regional Department of the Interior to secure the 

appearance of the aforementioned three officers at the prosecutor's office of 

the Chechen Republic. 

170.  By two similar decisions of 26 November 2003 the investigator 

ordered officers N. and Ya. to be compulsorily brought in for questioning 

on the same date. The decisions stated that on 26 November 2003 Mr N. 

and Mr Ya. had been summoned as suspects in the applicant's case; 

however, during the investigative measures in their regard both suspects had 
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left the investigator's officer under a far-fetched pretext, with the result that 

it had been impossible to complete the investigative measures. 

171.  In a letter of 18 August 2004 the Criminal Investigation Division of 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Regional Department of the Interior informed the 

Oktyabrskiy ROVD that Mr Z. was registered and lived at his home address 

in Khanty-Mansiysk, that at present he was on leave outside the territory of 

Khanty-Mansiysk and that his wife had refused to disclose his current 

whereabouts with reference to her constitutional right not to testify against 

her relatives. 

172.  In a letter of 18 November 2004 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic inquired of the Oktyabrskiy ROVD whether their 

instruction of 29 October 2004 to activate the search for Mr Z. had been 

complied with. In a letter of 3 December 2004 the Oktyabrskiy ROVD 

replied that, in an attempt to locate Mr Z., the Oktyabrskiy ROVD had made 

enquiries at his place of residence and duty station, sent a description of his 

appearance to places where he might be and had verified the relevant 

records to check whether he had ever bought railway tickets. The letter 

stated that, to date, Mr Z.'s whereabouts had not been established. 

173.  In a letter of 14 January 2005 the Oktyabrskiy ROVD informed the 

investigator that they had established the whereabouts of Mr Z. who was 

residing at his home address in Khanty-Mansiysk; however, it was 

impossible to deliver Mr Z. to the prosecutor's office of the Chechen 

Republic because he was under an undertaking not to leave his place of 

residence pending the criminal proceedings against him in the present case. 

In a letter of 18 June 2005 the Oktyabrskiy ROVD further informed the 

investigating authorities that Mr Z. had been removed from the federal 

wanted list because his permanent place of residence had been established. 

174.  By a decision of 29 June 2005 the investigator, upon a request by 

the applicant's lawyer, ordered an additional forensic medical examination 

of the applicant, stating that the report of 7 September 2001 (see paragraphs 

154 and 155 above) had been incomplete and had not addressed one of the 

questions by the investigating authorities. 

175.  By a decision of 17 September 2006 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic rejected a complaint by the applicant's lawyer about the 

investigator's refusal to grant the applicant and his counsel full access to the 

criminal investigation file. The decision stated that the investigator had 

allowed the applicant and his lawyer to study, without making copies, 

reports on investigative measures in which the applicant had taken part and 

decisions ordering expert examinations and reports on the results thereof, 

and to receive copies of decisions to institute and suspend criminal 

proceedings and a decision to declare the applicant a victim in the case. The 

decision went on to say that, under the relevant legal provision, a victim 

could have full access to the file and make copies of the materials only upon 

the completion of the investigation and that, given that the investigation in 
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case no. 12088 was still in progress, the investigator had rightly refused the 

applicant and his lawyer access to any other materials in the file. 

176.  In a decision of 9 January 2007 the investigator requested a 

prosecutor to authorise the extension of the period of the preliminary 

investigation. The decision stated, in particular: 

“The preliminary investigation in the present case has established the following:- 

“Mr B., performing the duties of head of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD ..., on 

5 March 2000 ... clearly in excess of his authority, along with other unidentified 

persons, beat and kicked [the applicant] on various parts of his body, burnt the palm 

[of the applicant's hand] with a metal bar, cut [the applicant's] hair and forced the 

latter to eat it. 

Mr Z., performing the duties of head of the convoy group..., when on duty in the 

IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD ..., on 11 March 2000 at around midnight let into a cell 

of the IVS Mr D. – the deputy head of the special fire group – and other unidentified 

persons. Mr D., being in the state of alcohol intoxication and having a knife, along 

with other unidentified persons, entered the cell where [the applicant] and Mr K. were 

held, and, acting deliberately ... in clear excess of his authority, knocked [the 

applicant] down and started kicking him in various parts of his body. Thereafter an 

unidentified person held the applicant down whilst Mr D., using his knife, cut off [the 

applicant's] left ear. 

Mr Ya., performing the duties of deputy head of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD ..., in the 

period from 5 March until 24 May 2000, ... along with other unidentified persons stole 

from the applicant's house ... an Oldsmobile car belonging to [the applicant] and sold 

it for USD 500 to Mr Dzh.” 

The decision thus stated that the preliminary investigation should be 

extended because it was necessary to carry out numerous investigative 

measures and, in particular, to arrest Mr Z., Mr D., Mr B. and Mr Ya. and to 

seek authorisation from court to place them in detention, bring charges 

against them and question them, conduct searches at their places of 

residence, organise, if necessary, confrontations between the four 

individuals in question and the applicant and Mr K., prepare a bill of 

indictment, and so forth. 

177.  In an application of 16 February 2007 the applicant requested the 

investigator to interview Mr Kh. Dzh., Mr R. Dhz. and Mr I. Dzh. – brothers 

of the deceased Mr Dzh. – in connection with the circumstances of the theft 

of his property, including his cars, stating that they, together with officers 

from the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, had been implicated in that offence, which 

could be confirmed by numerous eyewitness statements. 

178.  In a letter of 20 February 2007 the investigator informed the 

applicant that his application of 16 February 2007 had been granted and 

invited him to appear at the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic for 

questioning. The applicant states that he is unaware whether the 

aforementioned three persons were questioned. 
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(d)  Transcripts of witness interviews 

(i)  Statements by the applicant 

179.  The case file contains transcripts of the applicant's interviews of 

1 and 5 September 2005 in which he described the circumstances of his 

arrest by the police and submitted that during his detention his property had 

been stolen from him, including his cars in respect of which he had kept the 

papers. 

(ii)  Statements by Mr K. 

180.  It can be ascertained from the case-file materials that Mr K., the 

applicant's cellmate (see paragraph 23 above), was questioned on several 

occasions. 

181.  When questioned on an unspecified date in 2000, Mr K. stated that 

he had seen unknown military officers enter the cell in which he and the 

applicant had been kept and cut off the applicant's ear. Mr K. also described 

the officer who had done it and stated that he would be able to recognise 

him. 

182.  During a witness interview of 4 September 2001, Mr K. made 

similar statements. In particular, he submitted that he had been apprehended 

on 10 March 2000 and placed in the applicant's cell. Mr K.'s stated that he 

had not noticed any visible injuries on the applicant. He further stated that 

one or two days later two unknown individuals of Russian ethnic origin had 

entered the cell; they had been inebriated and one of them had had a 

moustache. He confirmed that he would be able to recognize the person in 

question. According to Mr K., the IVS guard had told the intruders that they 

should not touch Mr K., but that they could do what they wanted with the 

applicant. The man with the moustache had ordered Mr K. to step aside and 

turn his back; the latter had slightly turned his head, however, and had been 

able to see one of the intruders knock the applicant down and hold him 

down whilst the man with the moustache took a knife and cut off the 

applicant's ear. The latter had been shouting very loudly and both intruders 

had been cursing. They had then left. Mr K. added that over the following 

days various officers had entered the cell and had severely beaten him and 

the applicant. Among those who had beaten them, Mr K. remembered two 

officers seconded from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region. 

183.  In an interview of 15 November 2004 Mr K. gave oral evidence 

similar to that of 4 September 2001. In reply to the investigator's question 

he also stated that Mr N., whom he had previously identified from a 

photograph (see paragraph 168 above), resembled the person who had cut 

off the applicant's ear; however, he could not affirm that it had definitely 

been the same person as the incident had taken place long before. 
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(iii)  Statements by Mr P. 

184.  Mr P., who from February until May 2000 was seconded from the 

Khanty-Mansiysk Region as a senior inquiry officer at the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD, stated during an interview of 14 August 2000 that he had been 

investigating a criminal case against the applicant, that the latter's head had 

been bandaged and that, when being questioned in the latter respect, the 

applicant had submitted that four or five unknown persons had cut off his 

ear the day before he had been apprehended by officers of the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD. Mr P. also stated that neither the applicant nor he had known who 

had cut off the applicant's ear and that the applicant had received the 

necessary medical aid during his detention. 

185.  During an interview of 21 March 2002 Mr P. stated that he did not 

remember what the applicant had looked like, whether the applicant had had 

any bodily injuries, whether his head had been bandaged, whether he had 

made any complaints about beatings in the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

and whether he had been provided with any medical assistance. According 

to Mr P., he had heard that somebody had cut off the applicant's ear; 

however, he did not remember who had told him about that incident and he 

did not know who could have done it. 

186.  In an interview of 9 September 2002 Mr P. stated that he did not 

know which of the police officers could have inflicted bodily injuries on the 

applicant and denied stealing any items of the applicant's property. 

(iv) Statements by Mr B. 

187.  Mr B., who between February and May 2000 was seconded from 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Region to the Chechen Republic as the head of the 

IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, stated during questioning on 6 September 

2002 that, in practice, he had performed his duties as head of the IVS 

starting from late March – early April 2000, as prior to that date the IVS had 

not existed, in the absence of necessary documentation. According to Mr B., 

when the applicant had been placed in the newly created IVS, he had had a 

fresh wound sustained as a result of amputation of his ear, which, as the 

applicant had said to Mr B., had been performed by an unknown man 

dressed in camouflage uniform. Mr B. denied having known or seen the 

applicant before, or having known those who had cut off his ear or having 

let anyone into the applicant's cell. He stated that he had reported the 

incident to the Grozny prosecutor's office, which had conducted an inquiry 

in that connection and had refused to institute criminal proceedings. He also 

stated that he had been told by someone that the applicant had explained 

that his ear had been cut off a day or two prior to his detention, by unknown 

members of illegal armed groups, for the applicant's refusal to cooperate 

with them. 

188.  In an interview of 26 November 2003 Mr B. stated that he had 

found out about the incident of 11 March 2000 the next day. In particular, 
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he had been told that during that night several men, who had been drunk, 

had entered the applicant's cell and that one of them had cut off his ear. 

According to Mr B., they had probably been officers of the special fire 

group of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. Mr B. stated that he did not know why 

there had been no internal inquiry in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD in connection 

with the infliction of injuries on the applicant. He insisted that he had 

performed his duties in strict compliance with the relevant regulations and 

had never used any form of physical violence against detainees or received 

any information that any violence had been used by his subordinates. 

(v)  Statements by Mr Z. 

189.  In a witness interview of 28 March 2003 Mr Z. confirmed that on 

several occasions he had been on duty as a guard of the IVS of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. However, he denied knowing the applicant's surname 

or the circumstances of the latter's arrest. Mr Z. also stated that he did not 

remember whether he had been on duty on any date between 9 and 

11 March 2000, whether he had let anyone into the cells, and whether 

“anyone's ear [had been] cut off in the cell”. Mr Z. also stated that initially 

visits to the IVS had not been registered at all, and that subsequently they 

had been noted down in a notebook. 

190.  During questioning on 28 April 2003 Mr Z. stated that he had a 

clear memory of the applicant who had been detained for having kept a 

TNT block and had been held in same cell as Mr K. Mr Z. then stated that 

on the date – which he no longer remembered – when he had been on duty, 

a group of officers from the special fire group of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

had entered the IVS. According to Mr Z., the officers had been drunk and 

told him to let them into the applicant's cell as they intended to talk with the 

detainees. Mr Z. had obeyed. He maintained that he had not watched what 

had been going on in the cell; however, some time later he had heard a 

moan and looked into the cell. Mr Z. had seen the applicant on his haunches 

with one of his ears missing. There had been a lot of blood on the floor. The 

officers of the special fire group had also been there; however, Mr Z. could 

not remember which of them had been holding a knife or who had cut off 

the applicant's ear. According to Mr Z., he had “expressed his discontent”, 

following which the officers had left. Thereafter Mr Z. and another guard 

had provided the applicant with medical assistance. Mr Z. also confirmed 

that an officer of Uzbek origin whose surname was Ab. had served in the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD at that time, but he did not remember whether Mr Ab. 

had been in the cell when the applicant's ear had been cut off or whether 

Mr Ab. had had a photographic camera. 

191.  In a witness interview of 4 May 2003 Mr Z. made statements 

similar to those of 28 April 2003. 
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(vi) Statements by Messrs Dzh., A., Sh. and V. 

192.  In a witness interview of 12 October 2001 Mr Dzh., who between 

February and May 2000 had been an officer of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, 

submitted that in late March or early April 2000 Mr A., a driver at the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD, had told him that he had bought for USD 200 two cars 

from police officers seconded from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region. 

According to Mr Dzh., one of the cars had been left in Grozny and the other 

one had been conveyed to Urus-Martan and left in the courtyard of 

Mr Dzh.'s house where it had remained for about a year. Mr Dhz. further 

stated that at some point the applicant, who had come to Urus-Martan, had 

requested him to return the car, claiming to be its owner; the applicant had 

allegedly also accused Mr Dhz. of stealing his other property. Mr Dhz. 

stated that on two occasions he had proposed that the applicant take the car 

but that the latter had refused stating that Mr Dhz. should also pay for the 

other stolen property. According to Mr Dhz., the car had then been taken 

away by federal servicemen. 

193.  Mr A. stated during a witness interview of 13 October 2001 that in 

late February or early March 2000 he, along with two other police officers – 

Mr Sh. and Mr Sul. – had met a group of servicemen in camouflage uniform 

in an Ural truck and an armoured personnel carrier who had been towing 

two foreign-made cars. According to Mr A., the officer in command of the 

convoy had said that they were officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD and then 

offered to purchase the two cars from them for RUB 2,000. The three men 

had agreed to buy the cars, although, in Mr A.'s submission, they had not 

known where the cars had been taken from, and who had been their owner. 

Mr A. further stated that he and Mr Sh. and Mr Sul. had hidden one of the 

cars in a nearby courtyard and taken the other one to their place of residence 

and then, three months later, to Mr Dhz.'s courtyard in Urus-Martan. 

According to Mr A., approximately four months later the applicant had 

expressed his intention to retrieve his cars and Mr A. had told him that one 

of the vehicles was in Urus-Martan, but the applicant had not taken it; 

however, he had taken the one that had remained in Grozny. Mr A. added 

that the applicant had not refunded them the money which they had paid for 

the cars. He also stated that he would be able to recognise the police officers 

who had sold them the vehicles. 

194.  In a witness interview of 13 October 2001 Mr Sh. made statements 

similar to those of Mr A. 

195.  Mr V. stated during questioning on 13 October 2001 that at some 

point he had noticed a car in the courtyard of the house in which he had 

lived with Mr A., Sh. and Mr Sul. and that they had explained to him that 

they had purchased the vehicle from federal servicemen. According to 

Mr V., a month later the car had been taken to the courtyard of Mr Dhz.'s 

house in Urus-Martan, and some time later, upon Mr Dhz.'s request, Mr V. 

had told the applicant that he could retrieve the car. Mr V. claimed that the 
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applicant had not taken the car but had retrieved another one that had 

remained in Grozny. 

196.  The transcript of a witness interview on 13 October 2001 with 

Mr Sul. is illegible. 

197.  During questioning of 15 January 2003 Mr A. retracted his 

statements of 13 October 2001 and stated that he had never participated in 

the purchase of the cars. He also submitted that he had heard from Mr Dzh. 

that the latter had purchased the cars from Mr Ya., the deputy head of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

198.  In witness interviews of 14 May 2003 Mr A., Mr Sh. And Mr V. 

made statements somewhat similar to those of 13 October 2001. In 

particular, they stated that around late winter 2000 they and Mr Dhz. had 

met a convoy of an Ural vehicle and an armoured personnel carrier 

escorting two foreign-made cars and that Mr Dzh. had purchased the cars 

and taken one of them to Urus-Martan and left the other one in the courtyard 

of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. According to the three men, the applicant had 

visited Mr Dhz. in Urus-Martan several months later and attempted to 

retrieve the car but Mr Dzh. had stated that he would return the car in 

exchange for money equal to the amount he had paid for it. 

(vii)  Statements by other persons 

199.  Mr Dub., who between February and May 2000 was seconded from 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Region to the Chechen Republic as head of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD, stated during questioning on 15 March 2002 that he 

remembered a detainee with an amputated ear who had been delivered to the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. Mr Dub. insisted that none of the police officers had 

cut off the detainee's ear and that the Grozny prosecutor's office had carried 

out an inquiry into the incident and had decided to dispense with criminal 

proceedings. Mr Dub. stated that the applicant had told him in conversation 

that his ear had been cut off before the detention and that it had been done 

by one of several persons in camouflage uniform who had broken into the 

applicant's house. In a witness interview of 12 May 2003 Mr Dub. made 

similar statements. He also added that during the entire period of his 

secondment there had been no foreign-made cars or satellite dishes on the 

territory of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. 

200.  During questioning on 3 September 2002 Mr S., an officer who had 

carried out a search in the applicant's house on 5 March 2000, denied 

seizing or stealing any items of the applicant's property. 

201.  In a witness interview of 6 September 2002, Mr Kir., seconded 

between February and May 2000 from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region to the 

Chechen Republic as an officer of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, 

submitted that he had heard from his colleagues that the applicant had been 

delivered to the IVS with his ear cut off. According to Mr Kir., none of the 

police officers had inflicted any injuries on the applicant in his presence and 
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the latter had received regular medical assistance in respect of his ablated 

ear. Mr Kir. also stated that had learnt from the applicant that his ear had 

been cut off two or three days prior to his detention. 

202.  Mr Ya., who between February and May 2000 had been seconded 

from the Khanty-Mansiysk Region to the Chechen Republic as the deputy 

head of Oktyarbskiy VOVD, stated during a witness interview of 29 April 

2003 that he did not know how the applicant had received severe bodily 

injuries and that he had not conducted an inquiry in that respect as it had not 

fallen within his competence. Mr Ya. added that he had heard from other 

officers that the applicant's ear had been cut off by unknown members of 

illegal armed groups in revenge for the applicant's cooperation with federal 

forces. Mr Ya. denied stealing any property from the applicant or selling to 

anyone any cars belonging to the applicant. He said that he did not know 

Mr A. or Mr Dzh. and could not explain why they had indicated that they 

had purchased the applicant's cars from him. Mr Ya. also added that Mr S. 

(see paragraph 200 above) had informed him of the seizure during the 

search of 5 March 2000 of the applicant's satellite dish. 

203.  Mr S., when questioned on 4 May 2003, again denied having seized 

any of the applicant's property during the search and stated that it was 

unclear to him why Mr Ya. had made a statement to that effect. Mr S. added 

that there had been a garage in the courtyard of the applicant's house but it 

had been empty and that he had not seen any cars in the courtyard either. 

Mr S. also explained that the search of the applicant's house had been 

carried out on the basis of operational information received from the Federal 

Security Service to the effect that the applicant had provided food and water 

to illegal armed groups. 

204.  Mr D., identified by the applicant as the officer of the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD who had cut off his ear (see paragraph 165 above), submitted during 

a witness interview of 26 May 2003 that the applicant's surname was 

unfamiliar to him. He stated, however, that the applicant might have been 

the person whom he had arrested in March 2000 following operational 

information received by the law-enforcement authorities to the effect that 

the applicant, who had been assisting the Ministry for Civil Defence and 

Emergency Situations of the Chechen Republic in distributing food and 

water to local residents, had given some of the provisions to illegal fighters. 

According to Mr D., a group of police officers, in two vehicles, had arrived 

at the place where the applicant had been working that day, and the decision 

had been taken to arrest the applicant without attracting the attention of 

local residents. Mr D. had approached the applicant and asked him to show 

the officers a certain street. After the applicant had got into one of the 

vehicles, he had been delivered to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD and left there. 

Mr D. stated that at the time of his arrest the applicant had had no visible 

injuries. He added that he had never met the applicant again and strongly 
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denied inflicting any injuries on him. Mr D. stated that could not explain 

why the applicant had identified him as the person who had cut off his ear. 

205.  The case file also contains transcripts of witness interviews of a 

number of police officers who had participated in the search of the 

applicant's house on 5 March 2000 and officers who had served in the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD during the relevant period. They all denied taking any 

property from the applicant's house, including any vehicles, or knowledge 

of the origin of the applicant's bodily injuries. 

3.  Documents from the investigation file in case no. 61857 

206.  By a decision of 23 August 2005 the prosecutor's office of the 

Chechen Republic instituted criminal proceedings under Articles 158 § 3 

(aggravated theft) and 167 § 1 (deliberate destruction of another's property) 

of the Russian Criminal Code in connection with the theft of the applicant's 

Subaru minivan and property from his house and the destruction of his 

house and outhouses, which had been established during the investigation in 

case no. 12088. The decision stated that the applicant's aforementioned 

property had been stolen and destroyed during his detention in the IVS of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. It went on to say in that, so far as these offences 

were concerned, there was no objective evidence that they had been 

committed by officers from the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. Accordingly, the 

decision ordered that the relevant materials be disjoined from case 

no. 12088. 

207.  In a letter of 29 September 2005 the prosecutor's office of the 

Oktyabrskiy District forwarded the case file to the Oktyabrskiy ROVD for 

investigation. 

208.  By a decision of 2 October 2005 an investigator of the Oktyabrskiy 

ROVD took up the case. 

209.  By a decision of 10 October 2005 the applicant was granted victim 

status. The decision was signed by the applicant to the effect that he had 

been apprised of it on the same date. 

210.  In an interview of 10 October 2005 the applicant made statements 

similar to his submissions to the Court (see paragraphs 90-93 above). He 

also claimed that a number of officers from the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, 

including Mr Dzh., Mr Ya. and Mr Ab., had been involved in looting his 

property. 

211.  In two similar decisions of 23 October 2005 and 10 January 2006 

the investigation in case no. 61857 was suspended. The very succinct 

decisions stated that it had been impossible to identify those responsible 

although “all possible investigative measures had been carried out” and 

instructed the Criminal Investigation Division of the Oktyabrskiy ROVD to 

search for the alleged perpetrators. The decisions did not indicate which 

measures had been taken during the investigation. 
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212.  A decision of 23 November 2005 set aside the decision of 

23 October 2005 as unlawful and unfounded and ordered that the 

investigation be recommenced. The decision pointed out that it was 

necessary to obtain, from the materials in case no. 12088, copies of relevant 

witness interviews with a view to taking necessary procedural decisions and 

carrying out other indispensable investigative measures. 

213.  By a decision of 10 December 2005 the investigator took up the 

case. 

214.  In a letter of 26 December 2005 the investigator requested the 

prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic to send him copies of witness 

interviews relating to the alleged looting of the applicant's property. 

215.  No documents concerning the period after December 2005 have 

been submitted to the Court. According to the Government, the 

investigation in case no. 61857 was most recently suspended on 10 January 

2006; and on 3 March 2009 the prosecutor's office of the Chechen Republic 

ordered that the proceedings be resumed. 

II.  RELEVANT DOMESTIC LAW 

216.  Until 1 July 2002 criminal-law matters were governed by the 1960 

Code of Criminal Procedure of the RSFSR. On 1 July 2002 the old Code 

was replaced by the Code of Criminal Procedure of the Russian Federation. 

217.  Article 125 of the new Code provides that the decision of an 

investigator or prosecutor to dispense with criminal proceedings or to 

terminate criminal proceedings, and other decisions and acts or omissions 

which are liable to infringe the constitutional rights and freedoms of the 

parties to criminal proceedings or to impede citizens' access to justice may 

be appealed against to a district court, which is empowered to check the 

lawfulness and grounds of the impugned decisions. 

218.  Article 161 of the new Code enshrines the rule that data from the 

preliminary investigation may not be disclosed. Paragraph 3 of the same 

Article provides that information from the investigation file may be 

divulged with the permission of a prosecutor or investigator but only in so 

far as it does not infringe the rights and lawful interests of the participants in 

the criminal proceedings and does not prejudice the investigation. It is 

prohibited to divulge information about the private life of the participants in 

criminal proceedings without their permission. 

219.  Article 209 of the new Code states, in its relevant part, that no 

investigative measures shall be taken after the suspension of the preliminary 

investigation. 
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THE LAW 

I.  THE GOVERNMENT'S PRELIMINARY OBJECTION 

220.  In their observations on the admissibility and merits of the present 

case, the Government argued that the application should be declared 

inadmissible as the applicant had failed to exhaust the domestic remedies 

available to him. In reply to the Court's questions concerning the existence 

of effective domestic remedies in respect of his complaints under Article 3 

of the Convention and Article 1 of Protocol No. 1, the Government 

submitted, in their post-admissibility memorial, that the applicant had been 

declared a victim in criminal cases nos. 12088 and 61857 opened into his 

allegations of ill-treatment and the alleged theft and destruction of his 

property and that his procedural rights had been explained to him. 

According to the Government, the applicant, by virtue of his victim status, 

could have actively participated in the investigation and rendered significant 

assistance to the investigating authorities by filing applications and 

submitting evidence, thus contributing to the establishment of the facts of 

the offence and the identity of those responsible. The Government also 

stated that, under Article 125 of the Russian Code of Criminal Procedure, 

the applicant was free to appeal in court against any decision, action or 

omission of the investigating authorities which he considered detrimental to 

his procedural rights. In support of their argument, they referred to court 

decisions delivered in three sets of proceedings unrelated to the present 

case, namely, to a decision of the Urus-Martan Town Court dated 6 August 

2004 which had ordered the Urus-Martan prosecutor's office to resume the 

investigation into the disappearance of a claimant's son, a decision of the 

Shali Town Court dated 13 March 2006 and a decision of the Urus-Martan 

City Court dated 1 August 2005 by which the claimants had been allowed 

access to criminal investigation files. 

221.  The applicant contended that the ongoing investigation into his 

allegations of ill-treatment and the theft of his property could not be deemed 

effective as it had been repeatedly suspended and reopened, had dragged on 

for several years and had produced no tangible results so far. He further 

argued that, in the absence of any meaningful findings made in the criminal 

investigation, he had no chance of succeeding with any of his claims in civil 

proceedings. In the latter respect he referred to his attempts to lodge a civil 

claim for recovery of his property which had proved to be futile as the 

courts had refused to examine his claim in civil proceedings (see paragraphs 

104-105 above). 

222.  The Court considers that the Government's preliminary objection 

raises issues which are closely linked to the question of the effectiveness of 

the investigation into the applicant's allegations of ill-treatment and the theft 
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and destruction of his property, and it would therefore be appropriate to 

address the matter in the examination of the merits of the applicant's 

complaints under Article 3 of the Convention and Article 13, taken in 

conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. 

II.  ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 3 OF THE CONVENTION 

223.  The applicant complained that he had been subjected to inhuman 

and degrading treatment and torture while in detention, referring to the 

methods of ill-treatment inflicted on him by the police officers of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD. He also complained that no effective investigation had 

been conducted into his relevant allegations. The applicant referred to 

Article 3 of the Convention, which reads as follows: 

“No one shall be subjected to torture or to inhuman or degrading treatment or 

punishment.” 

A.  Submissions by the parties 

224.  The applicant maintained his complaint under Article 3 in its 

substantive aspect. He further contended that the criminal investigation into 

his allegations of ill-treatment was inadequate. The applicant pointed out 

that the investigation, which had been suspended and resumed on numerous 

occasions and plagued with long periods of inactivity, had been pending for 

many years but had not yielded any visible results. Notwithstanding the 

applicant's complaints in which he had indicated the addresses of the alleged 

perpetrators, it did not appear that anything had been done to check that 

information and the investigation had been repeatedly suspended for failure 

to establish their whereabouts. Moreover, the applicant submitted that he 

and his representative had been denied full access to the criminal 

investigation file and that he had not been properly informed of the course 

of the investigation. 

225.  The Government stated, with reference to information provided by 

the Prosecutor General's Office, that “the investigation had established the 

fact that bodily injuries had been inflicted on the applicant”, but argued that 

before all the circumstances of the offence had been established there were 

no grounds to hold the State responsible for the alleged ill-treatment of the 

applicant. The Government also insisted that the investigation in the present 

case had not breached the requirements of Article 3 of the Convention, 

given that the applicant had been granted victim status and could have 

participated in the criminal proceedings. 
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B.  The Court's assessment 

1.  Alleged ill-treatment at the hands of the authorities 

226.  The Court has observed on many occasions that Article 3 of the 

Convention enshrines one of the fundamental values of democratic societies 

and as such prohibits in absolute terms torture or inhuman or degrading 

treatment or punishment (see, for example, Aksoy v. Turkey, 18 December 

1996, § 62, Reports of Judgments and Decisions 1996-VI, and Aydın 

v. Turkey, 25 September 1997, § 81, Reports 1997-VI). The Court further 

indicates, as it has held on many occasions, that the authorities have an 

obligation to protect the physical integrity of persons in detention. Where an 

individual is taken into police custody in good health but is found to be 

injured at the time of release, it is incumbent on the State to provide a 

plausible explanation of how those injuries were caused. Otherwise, torture 

or ill-treatment may be presumed in favour of the claimant and an issue may 

arise under Article 3 of the Convention (see Tomasi v. France, 27 August 

1992, §§ 108-11, Series A no. 241-A, and Selmouni v. France [GC], 

no. 25803/94, § 87, ECHR 1999-V). 

227.  In assessing evidence, the Court has generally applied the standard 

of proof “beyond reasonable doubt” (see Ireland v. the United Kingdom, 

18 January 1978, § 161, Series A no. 25). Such proof may follow from the 

coexistence of sufficiently strong, clear and concordant inferences or of 

similar unrebutted presumptions of fact. Where the events in issue lie 

wholly, or in large part, within the exclusive knowledge of the authorities, 

as in the case of persons within their control in custody, strong 

presumptions of fact will arise in respect of injuries occurring during such 

detention. Indeed, the burden of proof may be regarded as resting on the 

authorities to provide a satisfactory and convincing explanation (see 

Ribitsch v. Austria, 4 December 1995, § 34, Series A no. 336, and Salman 

v. Turkey [GC], no. 21986/93, § 100, ECHR 2000-VII). 

228.  In the present case, while denying the State's responsibility for the 

alleged ill-treatment of the applicant, the Government acknowledged the 

specific facts underlying his version of events. Firstly, it is not in dispute 

that the applicant was held in detention between 5 March and 24 May 2000. 

Furthermore, medical documents issued in the period after the applicant's 

release attested to his various bodily injuries and indicated, in particular, 

that the applicant's left ear was missing (see paragraphs 60, 155 and 156 

above). It was never alleged by the Government that those injuries – except 

for the amputation of the left ear – had been inflicted on the applicant either 

before he had been apprehended or after he had been released. In so far as 

the amputation of the applicant's ear was concerned, the Government seem 

to have suggested, with reference to the witness statements of four officers 

of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, that this injury was inflicted on him by unknown 
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rebel fighters shortly before he was arrested by the police (see paragraph 87 

above). 

229.  The Court does not consider the explanation advanced by the 

Government to be plausible. It notes, firstly, that the statements referred to 

by the Government do not appear reliable. Indeed, it was only Mr Dub., the 

then head of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, who, according to him, remembered a 

detainee having been delivered to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD with his ear 

missing (see paragraph 199 above). The other three officers referred to by 

the Government – Mr P., Mr Kir. and Mr Ya. –never stated that they had 

seen the applicant at the time of his arrest or immediately upon his delivery 

to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. They submitted, rather, that they had heard from 

their colleagues that the applicant had been delivered to the Oktyabrskiy 

VOVD with his ear cut off (see paragraphs 184, 201 and 202 above). 

Moreover, in another witness interview officer P. denied remembering what 

the applicant had looked like during detention, whether his head had been 

bandaged, and whether he had had any bodily injuries (see paragraph 185 

above). 

230.  The Court further notes that the statements quoted by the 

Government clearly contradict the statements of Mr K., the applicant's 

cellmate, and Mr Z., a guard of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, who 

both, on several occasions, consistently described the circumstances of the 

incident when the applicant's ear had been cut off by an officer of the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD during the applicant's detention (see paragraphs 

181-183 and 190-191 above), and the findings to that end made by the 

domestic criminal investigation (see paragraph 176 above). 

231.  Lastly, and most importantly, the Government did not corroborate 

the aforementioned four officers' statements with any medical evidence 

attesting to the state of the applicant's health upon his delivery at the 

Oktyabrskiy VOVD, and at the end of his detention there. Indeed, it does 

not appear that the applicant underwent any medical examination at any 

time during his detention in the Oktyabrskiy VOVD, whereas it falls to the 

State to organise a system for the medical examination of persons in police 

custody (see, mutatis mutandis, Salmanoğlu and Polattaş v. Turkey, 

no. 15828/03, § 79, 17 March 2009). 

232.  On the basis of the materials before it and, in particular, having 

regard to the consistency of the applicant's submissions both at the domestic 

level and before the Court, the abundant evidence adduced by him in 

support of his allegations and the absence of any plausible explanation on 

the part of the Government as to the origin of the applicant's injuries, the 

Court concludes that the Government have not satisfactorily demonstrated 

that those injuries were caused otherwise than – entirely, mainly or partly – 

by the treatment the applicant underwent while in detention (see Ribitsch, 

cited above, § 34). It thus accepts the applicant's account of events. 
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233.  As to the seriousness of the acts of ill-treatment complained of, the 

Court reiterates that in order to determine whether a particular form of ill-

treatment should be characterised as torture, it must have regard to the 

distinction, embodied in Article 3, between this notion and that of inhuman 

or degrading treatment. It appears that it was the intention that the 

Convention should, by means of this distinction, attach a special stigma to 

deliberate inhuman treatment causing very serious and cruel suffering. The 

Court has previously had before it cases in which it has found that there has 

been treatment which could only be described as torture (see Aksoy, cited 

above, § 64; Aydın, cited above, §§ 83-84 and 86; Selmouni, cited above, 

§ 105; Dikme v. Turkey, no. 20869/92, §§ 94-96, ECHR 2000-VIII; and 

Batı and Others v. Turkey, nos. 33097/96 and 57834/00, § 116, 

ECHR 2004-IV (extracts)). 

234.  Furthermore, the Court reiterates its well-established case-law that 

in respect of a person deprived of his liberty, any recourse to physical force 

which has not been made strictly necessary by his own conduct diminishes 

human dignity and is in principle an infringement of the right enshrined in 

Article 3 of the Convention. It observes that the requirements of an 

investigation and the undeniable difficulties inherent in the fight against 

crime cannot justify placing limits on the protection to be afforded in 

respect of the physical integrity of individuals (see Tomasi, cited above, 

§ 115, and Ribitsch, cited above, §§ 38-40). 

235.  In the present case, the applicant indicated that police officers of 

the Oktyabrskiy VOVD had subjected him to various forms of ill-treatment. 

In particular, they had punched, kicked and beaten him with automatic rifle 

butts and had burnt various parts of his body with a red-hot metal bar. The 

intensity of the abusive treatment inflicted on the applicant is attested by the 

medical documents, listing a number of serious after-effects of that 

treatment, including traumatic extraction of at least eleven teeth, fracture of 

at least four ribs, scars on the left side of the lower jaw (see paragraphs 

155-156 above), possible fracture of the bridge of the nose, possible fracture 

of the right leg and a scar on the palm of the right hand (see paragraph 60 

above). The Court has no doubt that the aforementioned forms of 

ill-treatment caused the applicant severe physical pain and suffering, and 

that they were inflicted on him intentionally, in particular with a view to 

obtaining from him a confession or information about the offence of which 

he had been suspected . 

236.  The Court is particularly struck by the incident of 11 March 2000, 

when a police officer of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD cut off the applicant's left 

ear. It finds this to be an especially grave and abhorrent form of ill-treatment 

inflicted on the applicant which not only caused him acute physical pain but 

also led to his mutilation and disability – the complete loss of hearing in the 

left ear – and entailed long-lasting negative psychological effects (see 

paragraph 156 above). This method of ill-treatment was undoubtedly 
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applied to the applicant intentionally, its only aim being to intimidate, 

humiliate and debase him and possibly break his physical and moral 

resistance. The Court finds it shocking that such a horrid act of violence was 

committed by a police officer who was, furthermore, a representative of the 

State seconded to the Chechen Republic to maintain constitutional order in 

the region and called upon to protect the interests of civilians. 

237.  Against this background, the Court is convinced that the applicant 

was kept in a permanent state of physical pain and anxiety owing to his 

uncertainty about his fate and to the level of violence to which he was 

intentionally subjected by agents of the State throughout the period of his 

detention at the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. It is therefore satisfied that the 

accumulation of acts of violence inflicted on the applicant and the 

exceptionally cruel act of amputation of his left ear amounted to torture 

within the meaning of Article 3 of the Convention. Indeed, the Court would 

have reached this conclusion on either of these grounds taken separately. 

238.  Accordingly, there has been a violation of Article 3 of the 

Convention on that account. 

2.  Alleged inadequacy of the investigation 

239.  Where an individual raises an arguable claim that he or she has 

been seriously ill-treated by the police in breach of Article 3, that provision, 

read in conjunction with the State's general duty under Article 1 of the 

Convention to “secure to everyone within their jurisdiction the rights and 

freedoms defined in ... [the] Convention”, requires by implication that there 

should be an effective official investigation. This investigation should be 

capable of leading to the identification and punishment of those responsible 

(see Assenov and Others v. Bulgaria, 28 October 1998, § 102, 

Reports 1998-VIII, and Labita v. Italy [GC], no. 26772/95, § 131, 

ECHR 2000–IV). The minimum standards as to effectiveness defined by the 

Court's case-law also include the requirements that the investigation must be 

independent, impartial and subject to public scrutiny, and that the competent 

authorities must act with exemplary diligence and promptness (see, for 

example, Chitayev and Chitayev v. Russia, no. 59334/00, § 163, 18 January 

2007). 

240.  In the instant case, the Court observes that some degree of 

investigation was carried out into the applicant's allegations of ill-treatment. 

It must assess whether that investigation met the requirements of Article 3 

of the Convention. 

241.  Having regard to the materials in its possession, the Court notes 

that once the investigation had been commenced on 13 July 2000 it was 

protracted and plagued with inexplicable shortcomings and delays in taking 

the most trivial steps. Indeed, it appears that for a period of over a year, 

from the beginning of the investigation, the authorities did no more than 

interview the applicant on 17 July 2000 – on the assumption that the 
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Government's statement to that effect is accurate (see paragraph 70 above) – 

and grant him victim status on 18 July 2000 (see paragraph 157 above) and 

interview Mr P. on 14 August 2000 (see paragraph 184 above). The 

admissibility of this latter witness interview in the domestic proceedings is 

open to doubt, given that it was conducted the day after the investigation 

was suspended (see paragraphs 71 and 124 above) whereas under national 

law no investigative measures can be taken following the suspension of 

criminal proceedings (see paragraph 219 above). 

242.  Despite the apparent seriousness of the applicant's allegations, the 

authorities do not appear to have made any attempts to inspect the scene of 

the incident, whereas the applicant's forensic medical examination was not 

carried out until 7 September 2001, which is more than a year after the 

beginning of the investigation. Moreover, it does not appear that this 

examination was thoroughly conducted, with the result that additional 

expert examinations were necessary (see paragraphs 155, 166 and 174 

above). The Court also notes that these were not ordered and performed 

until 2003 and 2005. 

243.  Furthermore, it does not appear that any attempts to establish the 

identity of the police officers who had served at the Oktyabrskiy VOVD 

during the relevant period were made before November 2001, when the 

investigating authorities started sending queries to various law-enforcement 

bodies in the Chechen Republic and the Khanty-Mansiysk Region with a 

view to obtaining a list of police officers of the Khanty-Mansiysk Regional 

Department of the Interior seconded to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD in 

2000-2001, their photographs and transcripts of their witness interviews 

(see paragraph 158 above). 

244.  The Court also finds unacceptable the conduct of the authorities of 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Region and, more specifically, high-ranking officials 

of the Khanty-Mansiysk Regional Department of the Interior who impeded 

the investigation by their opposition to contacts between the investigator 

seconded to that region and their subordinates, which made it possible for 

the latter to ignore the investigator's summons to appear for questioning (see 

paragraph 130 above). 

245.  The Court further observes that in the period between November 

2002 and August 2003 the applicant and Mr K., his cellmate, identified 

from photographs a number of police officers as those implicated in the 

offences complained of by the applicant (see paragraphs 159, 160, 162 165 

and 168 above). The investigating authorities' flagrant failure for years to 

take any practical measures aimed at investigating any further the possible 

involvement of those officers in the offences against the applicant, and, 

more specifically, to search for additional evidence of those officers' 

involvement in the offences, to organise confrontations with the 

participation of those officers, the applicant and Mr K., to provide a legal 

definition of those officers' actions and to take relevant procedural decisions 
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in their regard, including bringing charges against them, applying a 

preventive measure to them, and preparing a bill of indictment, is attested 

by decisions of supervising prosecutors who on numerous occasions set 

aside decisions to suspend the investigation as unlawful and premature and 

indicated that the relevant orders had not been complied with (see 

paragraphs 131, 133, 134, 136, 140 and 142 above). It was not until 

20 February 2006 that charges were finally brought against Mr D., who had 

been identified by the applicant on 20 May 2003 as the officer who had cut 

off his ear (see paragraph 165 above), and it was only on 16 March 2007 

that charges were brought against Mr B. – on the assumption that the 

Government's assertion to that end is accurate – identified by the applicant 

on 26 November 2002 as the officer who had tortured him upon his delivery 

to the Oktyabrskiy VOVD (see paragraph 160 above). Moreover, it does not 

appear that any meaningful efforts were made to take investigative measures 

in respect of Mr N. and Mr Ab., who were also identified by the applicant 

and Mr K. as those involved in the incident involving the applicant's ear. 

The materials in the Court's possession reveal that the investigating 

authorities attempted to summon Mr Ab. for questioning but were 

unsuccessful because he was on his annual leave (see paragraphs 128 and 

130 above) and that they attempted, also unsuccessfully, to interview Mr N., 

who had left during questioning and had not returned (see paragraph 170 

above). However, there is no evidence that any further investigative 

activities took place in respect of those two individuals. 

246.  Furthermore, the investigation can only be described as manifestly, 

if not intentionally, incompetent when it came to establishing the 

whereabouts of the officers identified by the applicant and his cellmate as 

the perpetrators. In particular, Mr Z., an officer identified by the applicant 

and Mr K. as the guard of the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD who had let 

into their cell the officers who had then cut off the applicant's ear, was put 

on the federal wanted list on 19 May 2003. However, it was not until almost 

two years later – during which period the investigation was adjourned three 

times for failure to find Mr Z. – that the investigating authorities finally 

established that he was living at his permanent address (see paragraph 173 

above). The Government advanced no explanation as to why it had taken 

the authorities so long to find the accused at his home address, which he 

does not appear to have ever changed. 

247.  The Court further finds it astonishing that, after Mr Z.'s 

whereabouts had been established, the investigation was suspended once 

again with reference to the absence of “a real possibility” of Mr Z.'s 

participation in the criminal proceedings given his undertaking not to leave 

his place of residence, which allegedly prevented him from being delivered 

to Grozny (see paragraph 135 above). The Court notes that, as a general 

rule, a preventive measure is applied in order to prevent those responsible 

from fleeing from justice and obstructing the investigation. It is absurd that, 
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in the present case, the undertaking, which was presumably imposed on 

Mr Z. with a view to securing his participation in the investigation into the 

offences imputed to him, impeded in practice the conduct of the very same 

investigation. In any event, assuming that Mr Z. was indeed unable to travel 

to Grozny, it is unclear, and the Government have advanced no explanation 

in this respect, why the investigator could not be, and was not, seconded to 

the Khanty-Mansiysk Region to carry out the necessary investigative 

measures with Mr Z. on the spot. 

248.  The Court cannot but attribute such a remarkable shortcoming to 

extreme unprofessionalism on the part of the investigating authorities and 

their evident unwillingness to investigate the offences against the applicant 

and to bring those responsible to justice. Against this background, it is not 

surprising that, shortly after Mr Z.'s whereabouts had been established, he 

appears to have absconded from the investigation again (see paragraph 138 

above). It does not appear that any further attempts were made to establish 

his whereabouts or to locate the other officers implicated in the offence, the 

investigators' manifest failure to act being attested by supervising 

prosecutors (see paragraphs 144 and 148 above). 

249.  The inadequacy and ineffectiveness of the investigation became 

more than palpable with the passage of time. It does not appear that the 

investigators and supervising prosecutors taking up the case in the most 

recent period made an effort even to study the case file. Indeed, in the 

period between 28 May 2007 and 21 February 2009 the investigation was 

stayed four times pending the search for, among others, Mr B. (see 

paragraphs 149 and 151 above), whereas, according to the Government, the 

criminal proceedings against him had already been discontinued on 

20 March 2007, following his application for an amnesty under an Amnesty 

Act (see paragraph 84 above). Moreover, a decision of 19 January 2009 

ordered a further investigation in order to conduct an identification by the 

applicant of a certain Mr M. and to interview the latter with a view to 

establishing whether he had inflicted bodily injuries on the applicant, 

despite the presence in the case file of a decision stating that Mr M. had 

committed suicide in 2001 and in spite of the fact that on 4 April 2003 the 

applicant had identified Mr M. from a photograph as an officer who had 

never inflicted any violence on him (see paragraphs 153 and 161 above). In 

this latter respect, the Court cannot but regard such conduct of the 

authorities as an attempt to shift the responsibility from the police officers 

identified by the applicant as the perpetrators to a deceased person. 

250.  Lastly, the Court observes that the investigation in the present case 

was pending for at least eight years and seven months, from 13 July 2000, 

the date on which it was opened, until 21 February 2009, when it was last 

suspended during which period it was stayed and reopened on thirty-seven 

occasions and was plagued with long inexplicable periods of inactivity. It 

appears that throughout the investigation the applicant, who was granted 
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victim status on 18 July 2000, was informed of the progress in the 

investigation only occasionally and fragmentarily, and was denied full 

access to the case file (see paragraph 175 above). 

251.  Against this background, it is clear that the authorities failed to act 

with exemplary diligence and promptness and, more generally, given the 

omissions and shortcomings in the investigation process, it is questionable 

whether the investigation was at all capable of leading to the identification 

and punishment of those responsible. Therefore, in so far as the 

Government's argument concerning the possibility for the applicant to 

appeal to a court against the actions or omission of the investigators, under 

Article 125 of the Russian Code of Criminal Procedure, is concerned, the 

Court notes that the Government did not indicate which particular actions or 

omissions of the investigators the applicant should have challenged before a 

court. It further observes that the legal instrument referred to by the 

Government became operative on 1 July 2002 and that the applicant was 

clearly unable to have recourse to this remedy prior to that date. As regards 

the period thereafter, the Court considers that in a situation where the 

effectiveness of the investigation was undermined from a very early stage 

by the authorities' failure to take the necessary investigative measures, 

where the investigation was repeatedly suspended and reopened, where the 

applicant had no full access to the case file and was only informed of the 

conduct of the investigation occasionally, it is highly doubtful that the 

remedy invoked by the Government would have had any prospect of 

success. Moreover, the Government have not demonstrated that this remedy 

would have been capable of providing redress in the applicant's situation – 

in other words, that it would have rectified the shortcomings in the 

investigation and would have led to the identification and punishment of 

those responsible. The Court thus considers that in the circumstances of the 

case it has not been established with sufficient certainty that the remedy 

advanced by the Government would have been effective within the meaning 

of the Convention. It finds that the applicant was not obliged to pursue that 

remedy, and that the Government's preliminary objection should therefore 

be dismissed. 

252.  In the light of the foregoing, the Court further concludes that the 

authorities failed in their obligation to carry out a thorough and effective 

investigation into the applicant's arguable allegations of ill-treatment while 

in detention. It accordingly holds that there has been a violation of Article 3 

of the Convention on that account. 
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III.  ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 1 OF PROTOCOL NO. 1 TO 

THE CONVENTION 

253.  The applicant complained that his property had been looted and 

destroyed by State agents while he was in detention. He relied on Article 1 

of Protocol No. 1, which provides as follows: 

“Every natural or legal person is entitled to the peaceful enjoyment of his 

possessions. No one shall be deprived of his possessions except in the public interest 

and subject to the conditions provided for by law and by the general principles of 

international law. 

The preceding provisions shall not, however, in any way impair the right of a State 

to enforce such laws as it deems necessary to control the use of property in 

accordance with the general interest or to secure the payment of taxes or other 

contributions or penalties.” 

A.  Submissions by the parties 

254.  The applicant argued, first of all, that the payment to him of 

RUB 350,000 (approximately EUR 9,000) in compensation for his lost 

property had not deprived him of his victim status as regards his complaint 

under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. He submitted in that connection that the 

said compensation had been of an extra-judicial nature and, in accordance 

with the relevant governmental decree, had been paid to all individuals 

permanently residing in the Chechen Republic who had lost their home and 

property during the hostilities in the region, without taking into account the 

circumstances in which that property had been lost, namely, whether State 

agents had been responsible, and its value. The applicant stated that, in so 

far as his property complaint was concerned, he sought to have the State's 

responsibility for the theft and destruction of his property established at the 

domestic level and in the proceedings before the Court. 

255.  The applicant further submitted that the Government did not appear 

to have disputed his title to three vehicles which had been stolen from him 

and a house which had been ruined. As regards his other possessions, the 

applicant referred to a report listing his items of lost property and indicating 

its value which had been certified by the administration of the Oktyabrskiy 

District of Grozny (see paragraph 91 above) and stated that he had been 

unable to adduce any other documentary evidence in that respect, as all 

relevant documents had been burnt in the house. The applicant insisted that 

the Court should accept his relevant submissions, given that the 

Government had not provided the Court with any evidence that conflicted 

with his version of events. The applicant further contended that the fact that 

his property had been looted by State agents had been confirmed by a 

number of eyewitnesses – his neighbours – whose names he had 

communicated to the investigating authorities, and that this interference 
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with his property rights had not been justified under Article 1 of 

Protocol No. 1. 

256.  The Government stated that the authorities had established that the 

applicant's property had been stolen by unknown persons and indicated that 

an investigation was being carried out in that connection. They argued, with 

reference to the findings of the domestic investigation, that there was no 

evidence that the applicant's rights guaranteed by Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 

to the Convention had been violated by representatives of the State. 

B.  The Court's assessment 

257.  The Court observes at the outset that the applicant received by way 

of extra-judicial compensation the amount of RUB 350,000 (approximately 

EUR 9,000) for his house and other property lost during the conflict in the 

Chechen Republic in 1999-2002. The question arises whether, in 

accordance with Article 34 of the Convention, the applicant can still claim 

to be a “victim” of the alleged violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. In 

this connection, the Court reiterates that an applicant is deprived of his or 

her status as a victim if the national authorities have acknowledged, either 

expressly or in substance, and then afforded appropriate and sufficient 

redress for, a breach of the Convention (see, for example, Scordino v. Italy 

(no. 1) [GC], no. 36813/97, §§ 178-93, ECHR 2006-V). In the present case, 

even assuming that the payment in question could be regarded as redress for 

the violation alleged, there is no evidence that the authorities at any point 

acknowledged that violation, given that, as pointed out by the applicant, 

under the relevant governmental decree the authorities paid identical 

amounts to all permanent residents of the Chechen Republic who had lost 

their homes and property during the hostilities in the region, irrespective of 

whether State agents had been responsible for the destruction, and without 

taking into account its value. Moreover, no such acknowledgement was 

made in the criminal proceedings instituted in connection with the theft and 

destruction of the applicant's possessions (see paragraphs 97 and 100 above) 

or in the civil proceedings which the applicant brought in an attempt to 

challenge the amount of extra-judicial compensation (see paragraph 116 

above). The Court is therefore satisfied that the applicant retains his victim 

status, within the meaning of Article 34 of the Convention, in so far as his 

complaint under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 is concerned. 

258.  The Court further observes that the applicant complained that 

during his detention his house had been burnt and that the contents of the 

house as well as his three vehicles had been stolen. The Government did not 

dispute the applicant's property title to any of the items of property indicated 

by the applicant, or that the property had been looted. They denied, 

however, that the damage in question had been caused by representatives of 
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the State. The Court therefore has to establish whether the acts complained 

of are imputable to the State. 

1.  Alleged destruction and looting of the applicant's house and 

contents, outhouses and Subaru minivan 

259.  In so far as the applicant's house and contents, outhouses, and 

Subaru minivan were concerned, the Court notes that on 23 August 2005 

criminal proceedings in case no. 61857 were brought in connection with the 

destruction and theft of the aforementioned property during the period of the 

applicant's detention in the IVS of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. The relevant 

decision stated that there was no objective evidence that the offences in 

question had been committed by officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD. It does 

not appear that any evidence to that end was obtained at any stage of the 

investigation in case no. 61857. 

260.  Moreover, in the civil proceedings concerning compensation for his 

lost property, the applicant submitted that his house and other possessions 

had been destroyed during a shelling rather than damaged or stolen by 

police officers (see paragraph 115 above). In this latter respect, the Court 

reiterates its findings made previously in similar cases that, in view of the 

general situation prevailing in the region at the material time, when violent 

confrontations took place between the federal armed forces and rebel 

fighters, particularly in late 1999 – early 2000, this two-sided violence 

ensuing from the acts of both parties to the conflict and resulting in 

destruction of the property of many residents of Chechnya, it cannot be said 

that the State may or should be presumed responsible for any damage 

inflicted during military attacks, or that the State's responsibility is engaged 

by the mere fact that the applicant's property was destroyed (see Umarov 

v. Russia (dec.), no. 30788/02, 18 May 2006, and Trapeznikova v. Russia, 

no. 21539/02, §§ 108-110, 11 December 2008). 

261.  In the light of the foregoing and having regard to the materials in its 

possession, the Court is unable to establish that the alleged interference with 

the applicant's rights in respect of the aforementioned property is imputable 

to the State. Accordingly, there has been no violation of Article 1 of 

Protocol No. 1 on that account. 

2.  Alleged theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile car and Subaru car 

262.  As regards the applicant's Oldsmobile car and Subaru car, the Court 

notes that on 30 August 2001 and 23 August 2005 respectively criminal 

proceedings in cases nos. 15082 and 61856 were brought in connection with 

the theft of those two vehicles by “officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD” (see 

paragraphs 97 and 100 above). Both cases were joined to case no. 12088 

concerning ill-treatment of the applicant on the ground that all the offences 

had been committed by the same officers (see paragraph 98 above). 
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263.  It is clear from the documentary evidence before the Court that in 

the course of the investigation the said two vehicles were found in the 

possession of Mr Dhz., Mr A., Mr Sh., Mr Sul. and Mr V. – police officers 

of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD (see paragraph 167 above). When questioned in 

that connection, officers Dhz., A., Sh. and V. made statements incriminating 

police officers of the Oktyabrskiy VOVD seconded from the 

Khanty-Mansiysk Region, and in particular Mr Ya. (see paragraphs 192-198 

above). Furthermore, it appears that at least at some period during the 

investigation Mr Ya.'s involvement in stealing the applicant's Oldsmobile 

car was regarded by the investigating authorities as an established fact (see 

paragraph 176 above). 

264.  It is true that by a decision of 20 February 2009 the investigator the 

proceedings concerning the theft and destruction of the applicant's property, 

including his Oldsmobile car and Subaru car (see paragraph 102 above). 

The Court does not consider that decision as conclusive, however, as it did 

not refer to any findings made during the investigation or explain in any 

detail the reasons for disjoining the cases, apart from stating briefly that the 

offences concerning the property were not related to those being 

investigated in case no. 12088. 

265.  The Court further notes that from 30 August 2001 and 23 August 

2005 respectively until 20 February 2009 the authorities investigated the 

theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile car and Subaru car in the context of the 

criminal proceedings in case no. 12088, which the Court has found above to 

be ineffective. It appears that, like their failure to carry out an adequate 

investigation into the applicant's allegations of ill-treatment, the authorities 

took no practical measures, such as, for example, organising confrontations 

between officers A., V., Sh., Sul., Dhz. – when the latter was alive – and 

Ya., with a view to investigating in any meaningful way the theft of the 

applicant's two vehicles. The materials in the Court's possession reveal that 

the only step taken by the authorities was to check the address at which 

Mr A., Mr V., Mr Sh. and Mr Sul. had allegedly lived when the applicant's 

cars had been stolen (see paragraph 167 above). 

266.  Against this background, the Court cannot accept the 

Government's argument that no evidence of State agents' involvement in the 

theft of the applicant's two vehicles was obtained during the investigation. It 

finds that it has sufficient grounds to consider it established that the 

Oldsmobile car and Subaru car belonging to the applicant were taken from 

him by State agents, and that there has therefore been an interference with 

the applicant's rights under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 on that account. 

267.  The Court further notes the absence of any justification on the part 

of the State for its agents' actions in that regard. It accordingly finds that 

there has been a violation of the applicant's property rights under Article 1 

of Protocol No. 1, in so far as the theft of his Oldsmobile car and Subaru car 

was concerned. 
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IV.  ALLEGED VIOLATION OF ARTICLE 13 OF THE CONVENTION 

268.  The applicant alleged that he had had no effective remedies in 

respect of his complaints under Article 3 of the Convention and Article 1 of 

Protocol No. 1, contrary to Article 13 of the Convention, which provides as 

follows: 

“Everyone whose rights and freedoms as set forth in [the] Convention are violated 

shall have an effective remedy before a national authority notwithstanding that the 

violation has been committed by persons acting in an official capacity.” 

A.  Submissions by the parties 

269.  The applicant argued that the only potentially effective remedy for 

his ill-treatment and property complaints would be a criminal investigation, 

which could in principle lead to the perpetrators being identified and 

brought to justice and therefore afford him the possibility of obtaining 

compensation for pecuniary and non-pecuniary damage. The applicant 

insisted, however, that the investigation in his case fell foul of the 

Convention requirement of effectiveness. 

270.  As regards civil-law remedies, the applicant pointed out that 

according to the Court's well-established case-law such remedies were 

clearly inadequate for his complaints under Article 3 of the Convention. In 

so far as his complaint under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 was concerned, the 

applicant stated that his situation was similar to that in the case of Ayubov 

v. Russia (no. 7654/02, § 100, 12 February 2009) and stated, more 

specifically, that in the absence of any meaningful findings of the 

investigation into his property complaints, any court claim in civil 

proceedings would have no prospects of success. In this latter respect he 

referred to the decision of 14 October 2002 by which the Oktyabrskiy 

District Court declined to examine the applicant's claim for recovery of his 

property from adverse possession (see paragraph 104 above). 

271.  The Government argued that the applicant had had effective 

domestic remedies at his disposal in respect of the alleged violations of his 

rights, and that the Russian authorities had not prevented him from using 

those remedies. In particular, the applicant had been granted victim status in 

criminal cases nos. 21088 and 61857 opened into his allegations of 

ill-treatment and the theft and destruction of his property respectively and 

could have availed himself of his procedural rights which had been 

explained to him. According to the Government, the applicant had received 

reasoned replies to all his queries in the context of the criminal proceedings, 

and therefore had had effective domestic remedies as regards his complaints 

under Article 3 of the Convention. 

272.  Moreover, in so far as the applicant's property complaint was 

concerned, the Government pointed out that the applicant had had at his 
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disposal two avenues capable of providing redress for his lost property. 

Firstly, under a governmental decree establishing a mechanism enabling 

individuals who had lost their houses, flats, personal belongings and other 

property as a result of the conflict in the Chechen Republic, the applicant 

had obtained RUB 300,000 (approximately EUR 7,700) for his house and 

RUB 50,000 (approximately EUR 1,300) for the other property, those being 

the maximum possible amounts under the decree. Secondly, having availed 

himself of his right to extra-judicial compensation, the applicant was also 

free to seek recovery of his alleged losses in civil proceedings if he 

considered that the amount of the extra-judicial compensation was lower 

than the pecuniary damage actually sustained. The Government pointed out 

that the applicant had used this opportunity and had had his claim examined 

in civil proceedings; the fact that he had been unsuccessful owing to his 

failure to substantiate his claim had not rendered that remedy ineffective. 

The Government thus insisted that the applicant had had effective domestic 

remedies for his complaint under Article 1 of Protocol No. 1. 

B.  The Court's assessment 

273.  The Court reiterates that Article 13 of the Convention guarantees 

the availability at national level of a remedy to enforce the substance of the 

Convention rights and freedoms in whatever form they may happen to be 

secured in the domestic legal order. The effect of Article 13 is thus to 

require the provision of a domestic remedy to deal with the substance of an 

“arguable complaint” under the Convention and to grant appropriate relief, 

although Contracting States are afforded some discretion as to the manner in 

which they comply with their Convention obligations under this provision. 

The scope of the obligation under Article 13 varies depending on the nature 

of the applicant's complaint under the Convention. Nevertheless, the remedy 

required by Article 13 must be “effective” in practice as well as in law, in 

particular in the sense that its exercise must not be unjustifiably hindered by 

acts or omissions by the authorities of the respondent State (see Aydin, cited 

above, § 103). 

274.  Where an individual has an arguable claim that he has been 

ill-treated in breach of Article 3 of the Convention, the notion of an 

effective remedy entails, in addition to a thorough and effective 

investigation of the kind also required by Article 3, effective access for the 

complainant to the investigation procedure and the payment of 

compensation where appropriate (see Aksoy, cited above, §§ 95 and 98, and 

Assenov and Others, cited above, § 117). 

275.  The Court reiterates its above findings that the applicant has an 

arguable claim that he was ill-treated at the hands of the authorities and that 

the domestic investigation into that matter was inadequate. Consequently, 

any other remedy available to the applicant, including a claim for damages, 
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had limited chances of success. While the civil courts have the capacity to 

make an independent assessment of fact, in practice the weight attached to 

preliminary criminal inquiries is so important that even the most convincing 

evidence to the contrary furnished by a plaintiff would often be dismissed as 

“irrelevant” (see Menesheva v. Russia, no. 59261/00, § 73, 9 March 2006, 

and Chitayev and Chitayev, cited above, § 202). The Court therefore finds 

that the applicant has been denied an effective domestic remedy in respect 

of the ill-treatment by the police. Accordingly, there has been a violation of 

Article 13 in conjunction with Article 3 of the Convention. 

276.  As regards the applicant's complaint under Article 13 in 

conjunction with Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 in so far as the theft of his two 

cars is concerned, the Court accepts his argument that the only potentially 

effective domestic remedy in the circumstances would be an adequate 

criminal investigation. In this respect it refers to its above finding regarding 

the ineffectiveness of the investigation into the applicant's allegations of 

ill-treatment in case no. 12088. The Court finds that this is also true as 

regards the investigation into the theft of the Oldsmobile and Subaru cars, 

given that for several years all those offences were investigated within the 

same set of criminal proceedings. 

277.  It further considers that, similarly to its above finding made in 

paragraph 275 above as regards the existence of effective domestic remedies 

in respect of the applicant's complaints of ill-treatment, in the absence of 

any meaningful results of the investigation into the theft, his civil claim for 

damages for his stolen vehicles would hardly have had any prospects of 

success given, in particular, that State officials denied their involvement in 

the offence. With this in mind, the Court rejects the Government's argument 

that the applicant was afforded an opportunity to file a civil claim for 

compensation, as this latter right was illusory and devoid of substance. As 

regards the Government's argument that the applicant was paid 

extra-judicial compensation for his lost property, the Court has noted above 

that the compensation in question was paid without regard to the particular 

circumstances in which the property had been lost. Moreover, the value of 

the lost property was not taken into account either, since the amount paid for 

any lost possessions other than housing could not exceed RUB 50,000 

(approximately EUR 1,300). In such circumstances, the Court is not 

persuaded that the compensation referred to by the Government can be 

regarded as an effective remedy for the violation alleged. 

278.  The Court therefore rejects the Government's preliminary objection 

in its relevant part and finds that, in so far as the theft of the applicant's two 

cars is concerned, he did not have any effective domestic remedies in 

respect of the alleged violation of his rights secured by Article 1 of 

Protocol No. 1. Accordingly, there has been a violation of Article 13 on that 

account. 
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V.  COMPLIANCE WITH ARTICLE 38 OF THE CONVENTION 

279.  The applicant stated that the State's failure to submit the criminal 

investigation files was in violation of their obligation under Article 38 

§ 1 (a) of the Convention, which in its wording prior to 1 June 2010 in its 

relevant part read as follows: 

“1.  If the Court declares the application admissible, it shall 

(a)  pursue the examination of the case, together with the representatives of the 

parties, and if need be, undertake an investigation, for the effective conduct of which 

the States concerned shall furnish all necessary facilities; 

...” 

280.  The Government argued that under Article 161 of the Russian Code 

of Criminal Procedure, disclosure of the documents was contrary to the 

interests of the investigation and could entail a breach of the rights of the 

participants in the criminal proceedings. They also submitted that they had 

taken into account the possibility of requesting confidentiality under 

Rule 33 of the Rules of Court, but noted that the Court provided no 

guarantees that once in receipt of the investigation file, the applicant or his 

representatives, some of them not being Russian nationals and residing 

outside Russia's territory, would not disclose these materials to the public. 

According to the Government, in the absence of any sanctions against the 

applicant for the disclosure of confidential information and materials, there 

were no guarantees concerning compliance by him with the Convention and 

the Rules of Court. 

281.  The Court reiterates that it is of the utmost importance for the 

effective operation of the system of individual petition instituted under 

Article 34 of the Convention that States should furnish all necessary 

facilities to make possible a proper and effective examination of 

applications (see Tanrıkulu v. Turkey [GC], no. 23763/94, § 70, 

ECHR 1999-IV). This obligation requires the Contracting States to furnish 

all necessary facilities to the Court, whether it is conducting a fact-finding 

investigation or performing its general duties as regards the examination of 

applications. Failure on a Government's part to submit such information 

which is in their hands, without a satisfactory explanation, may not only 

give rise to the drawing of inferences as to the well-foundedness of the 

applicant's allegations, but may also reflect negatively on the level of 

compliance by a respondent State with its obligations under Article 38 of 

the Convention (see Timurtaş v. Turkey, no. 3531/94, § 66, 

ECHR 2000-VI). In a case where the application raises issues concerning 

the effectiveness of an investigation, the documents from the criminal 

investigation are fundamental to the establishment of the facts and their 

absence may prejudice the Court's proper examination of the complaint both 
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at the admissibility stage and at the merits stage (see Tanrıkulu, cited above, 

§ 70). 

282.  The Court observes that, after the present application was declared 

partly admissible, it requested the Government, inter alia, to provide 

information on the progress after November 2005 in the investigation in 

case no. 12088 concerning the ill-treatment of the applicant and the theft of 

his Oldsmobile and Subaru vehicles, and to produce copies of all the 

documents from the investigation file pertaining to the period indicated. The 

evidence contained in those materials was regarded by the Court as crucial 

to the establishment of the facts in the present case. The Government only 

produced several documents (see paragraph 121 above). Relying on 

Article 161 of the Russian Code of Criminal Procedure, they refused to 

submit any other materials from the criminal investigation file. 

283.  The Court further notes that the Government did not request the 

application of Rule 33 § 2 of the Rules of Court, which permits a restriction 

on the principle of the public character of the documents deposited with the 

Court for legitimate purposes, such as the protection of national security and 

the private life of the parties, and the interests of justice. The Court observes 

that the provisions of Article 161 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, to 

which the Government referred, do not preclude disclosure of the 

documents from the file of an ongoing investigation, but rather set out the 

procedure for and limits to such disclosure. The Government failed to 

specify the nature of the documents and the grounds on which they could 

not be disclosed (see, for similar conclusions, Mikheyev v. Russia, 

no. 77617/01, § 104, 26 January 2006). The Court also notes that in a 

number of comparable cases that have been reviewed by the Court, the 

Government submitted documents from the investigation files without 

reference to Article 161 (see, for example, Khashiyev and Akayeva 

v. Russia, nos. 57942/00 and 57945/00, § 46, 24 February 2005, or 

Magomadov and Magomadov v. Russia, no. 68004/01, §§ 36 and 82, 

12 July 2007), or agreed to produce documents from the investigation files 

even though they had initially invoked Article 161 (see Khatsiyeva and 

Others v. Russia, no. 5108/02, §§ 62-63, 17 January 2008). For these 

reasons, the Court considers the Government's explanations concerning 

disclosure of the case file insufficient to justify withholding the key 

information requested by the Court. 

284.  Having regard to the importance of cooperation by the respondent 

Government in Convention proceedings and the difficulties associated with 

the establishment of the facts in cases such as the present one, the Court 

finds that the Russian Government fell short of their obligations under 

Article 38 of the Convention on account of their failure to submit copies of 

the documents requested in respect of the ill-treatment of the applicant and 

the theft of his two cars. 
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VI.  APPLICATION OF ARTICLE 41 OF THE CONVENTION 

285.  Article 41 of the Convention provides: 

“If the Court finds that there has been a violation of the Convention or the Protocols 

thereto, and if the internal law of the High Contracting Party concerned allows only 

partial reparation to be made, the Court shall, if necessary, afford just satisfaction to 

the injured party.” 

A.  Damage 

286.  As regards pecuniary damage, the applicant submitted that, as a 

result of the ill-treatment in police custody, his health, and in particular his 

hearing, had considerably deteriorated with the result that he had incurred 

significant expenses in connection with medical treatment for the sustained 

injuries. According to the applicant, he would moreover need special 

medical care in the future, particularly with regard to his hearing problem. 

The applicant stated that he had not retained any documents indicating the 

amount of his medical expenses; he referred, however, to medical 

certificates attesting the state of his health and, in particular, to medical 

documents indicating that he had undergone ultrasound and X-ray 

examinations, and that he had applied for medical assistance in respect of 

the palm of his right hand. He therefore claimed EUR 7,000 as 

compensation for his past and future medical expenses. The applicant 

further sought RUB 11,393,408.82 (approximately EUR 300,000) for the 

pecuniary losses he had suffered as a result of the theft and destruction of 

his property, stating that this amount comprised the approximate value of 

his lost belongings. As for non-pecuniary damage, the applicant sought 

EUR 1,000,000 for the traumatic experience he had suffered as a result of 

the ill-treatment by the police and the loss of his property. 

287.  The Government disputed the applicant's claim for pecuniary 

damage as unsubstantiated and unsupported by any reliable documents. 

They further argued that his claim for non-pecuniary damage was excessive, 

stating that a finding of a violation would be adequate just satisfaction for 

the applicant. 

288.  The Court reiterates that there must be a clear causal connection 

between the pecuniary damage claimed by the applicant and the violation of 

the Convention (see, among other authorities, Çakıcı v. Turkey [GC], 

no. 23657/94, § 127, ECHR 1999-IV). In this connection the Court notes 

first of all its above finding of a violation of Article 3 of the Convention on 

account of the torture which the applicant sustained in detention. It further 

has regard to the medical documents submitted by the applicant confirming 

the poor state of his health and attesting to the fact that he had recourse to 

medical assistance in connection with his injuries. The Court agrees that the 

applicant must have borne some costs of medical treatment, and finds that 
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there is a clear causal connection between the medical treatment for the 

injuries sustained by him and the violation of Article 3 of the Convention 

found above. In the absence of any conclusive evidence as to the applicant's 

claims for the medical expenses and on the basis of the principles of equity, 

the Court considers it reasonable to award him EUR 5,000 in this respect 

(see, in a similar context, Makhauri v. Russia, no. 58701/00, §§ 138-39, 

4 October 2007). 

289.  The Court also observes that it has found a violation of Article 1 of 

Protocol No. 1 on account of the theft by police officers of the applicant's 

two vehicles – the Oldsmobile and the Subaru. The applicant is therefore 

justified in seeking compensation for this violation. The Court further notes 

that, in support of his claim, the applicant submitted documents from which 

it can be ascertained that both cars had been manufactured in the year 1989, 

and the report certified by the administration of the Oktyabrskiy District of 

Grozny (see paragraph 91 above). In that report the applicant indicated that 

the value of the Oldsmobile vehicle was equal to USD 12,000 and the value 

of the Subaru car to USD 7,500. The Court considers these amounts to be 

excessive, given that at the time of the theft the cars were eleven years old 

and that the applicant produced no documents objectively confirming the 

value of the cars at the material time. Nor does it overlook the fact that the 

applicant received at domestic level RUB 50,000 (approximately 

EUR 1,300) as extra-judicial compensation for his lost belongings (see 

paragraph 115 above). Against this background, and judging on an equitable 

basis, the Court considers it reasonable to award the applicant EUR 4,000 in 

so far as this part of his claim in respect of pecuniary damage is concerned. 

290.  Overall, the Court awards the applicant EUR 9,000 as 

compensation for pecuniary damage sustained as a result of the violations 

found, plus any tax that may be chargeable on this amount. 

291.  As regards the applicant's claim in respect of non-pecuniary 

damage, the Court reiterates its above findings of a violation of Articles 3 

and 13 of the Convention and Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 on account of the 

torture by the authorities and the lack of an adequate investigation into the 

matter, the breach of his property rights as a result of the theft of his two 

vehicles, and the absence of effective remedies to secure domestic redress 

for those violations. It has also found a violation of Article 38 of the 

Convention on account of the Government's failure to submit the materials 

requested by the Court. The applicant must have suffered considerable 

anguish and distress from all these circumstances, particularly given that the 

torture at the hands of the authorities resulted in his mutilation and the 

complete loss of hearing in his left ear. In the light of the above 

considerations, the Court awards the applicant, on an equitable basis, 

EUR 70,000 for non-pecuniary damage, plus any tax that may be chargeable 

on this amount. 
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B.  Costs and expenses 

292.  The applicant was represented by lawyers from the SRJI. He 

submitted a detailed invoice of costs and expenses that included research, 

interviews and obtaining documentary evidence in Ingushetia and Moscow, 

at a rate of EUR 50 per hour, the drafting of legal documents submitted to 

the domestic authorities, at a rate of EUR 50 per hour for the SRJI lawyers 

and EUR 150 per hour for the SRJI experts, and the drafting of legal 

documents submitted to the Court, at a rate of EUR 150 per hour. The 

aggregate claim in respect of the costs and expenses related to the 

applicant's legal representation amounted to EUR 9,226.54, comprising 

EUR 8,530.50 for 64 hours spent by the SRJI staff on preparing and 

representing the applicants' case, EUR 98.90 for international courier post to 

the Court and EUR 597.14 for administrative costs (7% of legal fees). 

293.  The Government pointed out that the applicant was only entitled to 

reimbursement of costs and expenses that had actually been incurred and 

were reasonable. 

294.  The Court reiterates that costs and expenses will not be awarded 

under Article 41 unless it is established that they were actually and 

necessarily incurred, and were also reasonable as to quantum (see Iatridis 

v. Greece (just satisfaction) [GC], no. 31107/96, § 54, ECHR 2000-XI). The 

Court, having regard to the documents submitted by the applicant, is 

satisfied that his claim was substantiated. It further notes that the present 

case has been rather complex, has required a certain amount of research 

work and involved a large number of documents. Having regard to the 

amount of research and preparation claimed by the applicant's 

representative, the Court does not find this claim excessive. 

295.  In these circumstances, the Court awards the applicant the overall 

amount of EUR 9,226.54, less EUR 850 already received by way of legal 

aid from the Council of Europe, together with any tax that may be 

chargeable to the applicant. The amount awarded in respect of costs and 

expenses shall be payable to the representative directly. 

C.  Default interest 

296.  The Court considers it appropriate that the default interest should 

be based on the marginal lending rate of the European Central Bank, to 

which should be added three percentage points. 

FOR THESE REASONS, THE COURT UNANIMOUSLY 

1.  Dismisses the Government's preliminary objection; 
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2.  Holds that there has been a violation of Article 3 of the Convention on 

account of the treatment suffered by the applicant; 

 

3.  Holds that there has been a violation of Article 3 of the Convention as 

regards the absence of an effective investigation into the applicant's 

allegations of ill-treatment; 

 

4.  Holds that there has been no violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 as 

regards the alleged destruction and looting of the applicant's house and 

contents, outhouses and Subaru minivan; 

 

5.  Holds that there has been a violation of Article 1 of Protocol No. 1 to the 

Convention as regards the theft of the applicant's Oldsmobile car and 

Subaru car; 

 

6.  Holds that there has been a violation of Article 13 of the Convention, in 

conjunction with Article 3 of the Convention and Article 1 of Protocol 

No. 1 to the Convention, in so far as the theft of the applicant's 

Oldsmobile car and Subaru car was concerned; 

 

7.  Holds that there has been a failure to comply with Article 38 of the 

Convention in that the Government refused to submit the documents 

requested by the Court; 

 

8.  Holds 

(a)  that the respondent State is to pay the applicant, within three months 

from the date on which the judgment becomes final in accordance with 

Article 44 § 2 of the Convention, the following amounts, all of which, 

save for those payable into the bank in the Netherlands, are to be 

converted into Russian roubles at the rate applicable at the date of 

settlement: 

(i)  EUR 9,000 (nine thousand euros), plus any tax that may be 

chargeable, in respect of pecuniary damage; 

(ii)  EUR 70,000 (seventy thousand euros), plus any tax that may be 

chargeable, in respect of non-pecuniary damage; 

(iii)  EUR 8,375.54 (eight thousand three hundred seventy-five 

euros and fifty-four cents), plus any tax that may be chargeable to 

the applicant, in respect of costs and expenses; 

(b)  that from the expiry of the above-mentioned three months until 

settlement simple interest shall be payable on the above amounts at a 

rate equal to the marginal lending rate of the European Central Bank 

during the default period plus three percentage points; 
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9.  Dismisses the remainder of the applicant's claim for just satisfaction. 

Done in English, and notified in writing on 7 October 2010, pursuant to 

Rule 77 §§ 2 and 3 of the Rules of Court. 

 Søren Nielsen Christos Rozakis 

 Registrar President 


